DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400
Denver, Colorado 80203
Phone: 303-592-4380

NOTICE OF ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING AND AGENDA
DATE:

December 7, 2021

TIME:

3:30 p.m.
This meeting will be held via video or teleconference without any persons (neither
District Representatives nor the general public) attending in person. Members of the
public who wish to attend this meeting may use the access information below:
To attend via video conference, use the following link:
https://zoom.us/j/95285642779?pwd=VUMxSzhPUlpDdTNIaXRvdFRWb1ZqUT09

PLACE:

To attend via telephone, dial 1-253-215-8782 and when prompted, enter the following
additional information:
• Meeting ID: 952 8564 2779
• Passcode: 162953
Board of Directors

Office

Term Expires

Michele Trujillo

May, 2022

Lisa Albers

May, 2022

Shannon Pachikara

May, 2023

Melanie Freeman

May, 2023

Chelsey Green

May, 2023

I.

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS
A.

Confirm quorum and present disclosures of potential conflicts of interest.

B.

Approve agenda; confirm location of meeting and posting of meeting notices.
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C.

Confirm filing of oaths of office and organizational documents.

D.

Consider appointment of officers.
President:
Secretary:
Treasurer
Assistant Secretary:
Assistant Secretary:

E.

Public Comment.
Members of the public may express their views to the Board on matters that affect
the District that are otherwise not on the agenda. Comments will be limited to
three (3) minutes per person.

F.

Consider engagement of McGeady Becher P.C. as District Counsel (enclosure).

G.

Consider engagement of D.A. Davidson & Co. for Investment Banking Services
(enclosure).

H.

Consider approval of Master Service Agreement and Statements of Work with
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP for District Management and Accounting Services
(enclosures).
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I.

Review and consider approval of Master Service Agreement for Engineering and
Cost Verification Services with Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. (enclosure).

J.

Discuss business to be conducted in 2022 and location (physical and/or virtual)
of meetings. Schedule regular Board meetings and consider adoption of
Resolution Establishing Regular Meeting Dates, Time and Location, Establishing
District Website and Designating Location for Posting of 24-Hour Notices
(enclosure).

K.

Consider engagement of Archipelago Web Inc. or other provider for website
creation and maintenance services and authorize necessary actions in connection
therewith (enclosure).

L.

Discuss insurance requirements (public officials’ liability, general liability,
workers’ compensation, comprehensive crime.) [District’s existing Position
Schedule Bond is valid until November 3, 2024]. Consider adoption of Resolution
to obtain insurance coverage through the Colorado Special Districts Property and
Liability Pool and authorize membership in the Special District Association (to be
distributed).

M.

Revise and consider approval of Agency Services Agreement with T. Charles
Wilson Insurance Service.

N.

Discuss payment of Directors’ fees.
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II.

FINANCIAL MATTERS
A.

Consider/ratify approval of execution of: (1) Form SS-4 Application for Employer
Identification Number; (2) Application for Sales Tax Exemption for Colorado
Organizations; and (3) Application by Official Custodian for Assignment of
PDPA Number for Public Funds Deposited in Banks (enclosures).

B.

Consider and approve the establishment of a policy authorizing investments in
accordance with state statutes.

C.

Discuss and consider establishment of operating account and authorize all Board
Members to be signers on the account (with all checks requiring two signatures).

D.

Ratify appointment of District Accountant to prepare 2021 and 2022 budgets.

E.

Conduct Public Hearing on the proposed 2021 Budget and consider adoption of
Resolution to Adopt the 2021 Budget and Appropriate Sums of Money
(enclosures - draft budget and resolution).

F.

Conduct Public Hearing on the proposed 2022 Budget and consider adoption of
Resolution to Adopt the 2022 Budget and Appropriate Sums of Money and
Resolution to Set Mill Levies (enclosures - draft budget and resolutions).

G.

Appoint and authorize District Accountant to prepare and sign the DLG-70
Certification of Tax Levies form for certification to the Board of County
Commissioners and other interested parties.
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III.

H.

Discuss statutory requirements for an audit. Consider appointment of District
Accountant to prepare and file Application for Exemption from Audit for 2021.

I.

Consider appointment of District Accountant to prepare 2023 Budget.

J.

Discuss anticipated timing of Bond issuance.

LEGAL MATTERS
A.

Discuss and consider approval of Operation Funding Agreement between the
District and Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc. (enclosure).

B.

Discuss and consider approval of Facilities Funding and Acquisition Agreement
between the District and Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc. (enclosure).

C.

Discuss public and executive session meeting procedure. Discuss and consider
adoption of Resolution Providing Policy Regarding Recording of Public and
Executive Session Meetings (enclosure).

D.

Discuss and consider adoption of Resolution Providing for the Defense and
Indemnification of Directors and Employees of the Districts (enclosure).
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E.

Discuss and consider approval of Resolution Declaring Districts’ Intent to
Reimburse Expenditures with the Proceeds of Future Tax-Exempt Bonds
(enclosure).

F.

Discuss and consider adoption of Resolution of the Districts’ Intent to Reimburse
Developer for Advances for Operations, Maintenance and Capital Expenses
(enclosure).

G.

Discuss and consider the adoption of Resolution Regarding Colorado Open
Records Act Requests (enclosure).

H.

Discuss and consider adoption of Resolution Regarding the Retention and
Disposal of Public Records and Adopting a Public Records Retention Schedule
(enclosure).

I.

Discuss requirements of Section 32-1-809, C.R.S. and direct staff regarding
compliance for 2022 (District Transparency Notice).

J.

Review and consider adoption of Resolution Calling May 3, 2022 Election for
Directors, Appointing Designated Election Official (“DEO”) and authorizing the
DEO to perform all tasks required for the conduct of a mail ballot election. SelfNomination Forms are due by February 25, 2022 (enclosure). Discuss the need
for ballot issues and/or questions.

K.

Conduct Public Hearing on Petition for Inclusion of approximately 2.421 acres of
real property into boundaries of the District and consider adoption of Resolution
for Inclusion of Real Property (enclosures: Petition and Resolution).
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L.

IV.

COVENANT ENFORCEMENT / DESIGN REVIEW
A.

V.

Discuss 2022 development/construction outlook.

OTHER BUSINESS
A.

VII.

Discuss status of Declaration of Covenants and Design Review Committee.

CONSTRUCTION MATTERS
A.

VI.

Discuss and consider adoption of Resolution Regarding the Imposition of District
Fees (enclosure).

Discuss and consider approval of Consent to be listed on McGeady Becher P.C.
website (enclosure).

ADJOURNMENT
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December 7, 2021
VIA HAND DELIVERY
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District
c/o Board of Directors
Re:

Engagement Agreement

Dear Board:
We appreciate this opportunity to present you with this engagement letter agreement
(“Agreement”) for our Firm to provide legal services to Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the
“District”). This engagement agreement states the terms upon which we will represent you in
this matter and any additional matters you may refer to us in the future which we expressly agree
to undertake. Please sign this letter indicating your approval and agreement with the terms of
our representation and return it to our office in the envelope provided. A copy of this
engagement agreement is enclosed and should be retained for your records.
Our services for this matter will be provided on an hourly basis. Our invoices are primarily
based upon the time spent by personnel of our office on your behalf. Paula Williams will be the
attorney primarily responsible for your matters. Other attorneys and paralegals may be assigned
to certain matters in the office as appropriate in an effort to reduce our overall legal fees
consistent with providing quality service. The current hourly rates are as follows: Shareholders
$475.00 to $525.00; Of Counsel $375.00 - $400.00; Associates $265.00 to $350.00; Paralegals
$225.00 to $240.00; Director of Administration $240.00; Law Clerks $150.00. You will be
informed of any changes in these rates at least twenty (20) days before such revision becomes
effective.
McGeady Becher P.C. represents that it qualifies as a “contractor” pursuant to Section 8-17.5101(2), C.R.S. and McGeady Becher P.C. hereby certifies that, as of the date hereof, McGeady
Becher P.C. does not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien who will perform work
under the Agreement and that it will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program
(as defined in Sections 8-17.5-101(3.3) and (3.7), C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment
eligibility of all employees of McGeady Becher P.C. who are newly hired to perform work under
the Agreement. In compliance with Section 8-17.5-102(2), C.R.S., McGeady Becher P.C.
hereby agrees:
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December 7, 2021
Page 2
(a)
McGeady Becher P.C. shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal
alien to perform work under the Agreement or enter into a contract with a subcontractor
that fails to certify to McGeady Becher P.C. that the subcontractor shall not knowingly
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under the Agreement.
(b)
McGeady Becher P.C. represents and warrants it has confirmed the employment
eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under
the Agreement through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department
Program.
(c)
McGeady Becher P.C. is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job
applicants while the Agreement is in effect.
(d)
If McGeady Becher P.C. obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor
performing work under the Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal
alien, McGeady Becher P.C. shall be required to (i) notify the subcontractor and the
District within three days that McGeady Becher P.C. has actual knowledge that the
subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal alien; and (ii) terminate the
subcontract with the subcontractor if within three days of receiving the notice required
pursuant to subparagraph (i) the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting
with the illegal alien; except that McGeady Becher P.C. shall not terminate the contract
with the subcontractor if during such three days the subcontractor provides information to
establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal
alien.
(e)
McGeady Becher P.C. shall comply with any reasonable request by the
Department of Labor and Employment (“Department”) made in the course of an
investigation that the Department is undertaking pursuant to Section 8-17.5-102(5),
C.R.S.
(f)
If McGeady Becher P.C. violates any provision of this engagement agreement, the
District may terminate this Agreement immediately and McGeady Becher P.C. shall be
liable to the District for actual and consequential damages of the District resulting from
such termination, and the District shall report such violation by McGeady Becher P.C. to
the Colorado Secretary of State, as required by law.
Time spent on your behalf will be itemized on our invoices which will show the date the work
was done, time spent in tenths of hours, the name or initials of the person performing the work
and a short description of the work done. Out-of-pocket expenses incurred by McGeady Becher
P.C. will be separately itemized. Photocopies are invoiced at $.20 per page. When volume
dictates and time permits, we will send copying out and pass through any reduced rate. Long
distance phone call expenses and services provided by third parties will be invoiced with no
surcharge.
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As a part of this engagement, we will prepare and maintain an official public record (the
“Record”) of the District’s documents pursuant to the Document Retention Policy attached
hereto as Appendix A and incorporated herein by this reference.
Records of the time spent and expenses incurred on your behalf are kept and monthly billings are
prepared and will be furnished to you. Our invoices are due upon receipt. Interest will be
charged upon any invoices outstanding over thirty (30) days at a rate of one and one half percent
(1½%) per month.
We have reviewed potential conflicts of interest based upon information you have provided to
us, and do not believe that any present conflict exists. In the event a conflict or potential conflict
arises, we have agreed to discuss and evaluate with you the efficiency of continued
representation.
We appreciate the opportunity to provide services to you. If you understand and agree to the
above, please sign and return the original of this letter to me.
Very truly yours,
MCGEADY BECHER P.C.

Paula J. Williams

APPROVED AND ACKNOWLEDGED THIS ____ DAY OF December, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Its:
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APPENDIX A
Document Retention Policy
Types of Documents
In representing you we will, or may, take possession of, create, and/or keep various types
of documents. These consist of documents you provide to us, documents which constitute the
District's official public record, and internal documents we create to assist us in providing
services to you.
Documents You Provide to Us
It is our policy to copy and return original documents you provide to us as soon as
practicable. Exceptions to this policy are original documents which should be kept as part of the
District's official public record, instances where we must have an original document to represent
you, and cases where we have affirmatively agreed retain a document for safekeeping.
The District's Record
As a part our engagement, we will maintain the District's official public Record (the
“Record”). The Record is a highly useful and detailed compilation of documents reflecting the
official actions of the District and serves multiple functions. First, it collects those documents
which the public is entitled to inspect and copy under various state and federal public records and
freedom of information statutes. Second, it organizes the records of the District - such as its
contracts, land and title records, and easements - in a manner which is useful in conducting the
ongoing business of the District. Third, the Record helps expedite the District's annual audit
process. Fourth, in the event you should change legal counsel or employ in-house counsel, the
Record will enable that counsel to understand the status and assume representation of the District
with maximum efficiency.
The Record includes the District's organizational documents, fully-executed agreements
which are still in effect, rules, regulations, resolutions adopted by the District, official minutes
books, meeting notices, agendas, insurance policies, District maps, election records, bond
documents, audit documents, and many more. A comprehensive list of documents comprising
the Record is available from us at any time upon request.
Creating and maintaining the Record is an important and complex task, and you agree to
pay our actual costs and hourly fees associated with doing this.
Supplemental Documents
All other documents created in course of representing you are referred to as Supplemental
Documents. These include our notes, drafts, memoranda, worksheets, electronic
communications, and other electronic documents stored in various media or file servers.
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Documents We Retain
Except as provided in this Document Retention Policy or an amendment thereto, we will
keep the Record and any original documents accepted by us for safekeeping so long as we
represent you.
Delivery of the Record
Once a matter is concluded, or our has representation terminated, we deliver to you or the
District's designee the original, printed Record, together with any original documents we have
accepted for safekeeping, provided our fees and costs have been paid in full.
If you do not designate someone to receive these records, we will deliver them to a then
current officer or director of the District. If we are unable to deliver these documents for any
reason, we may retain, destroy, or otherwise dispose of them in manner which assures their
continued confidentiality within thirty (30) days of our concluding that an authorized recipient
cannot be readily located.
We will also confidentially destroy the Record of any District in our possession if a final
order of dissolution of the District is entered.
All other documents, including all Supplemental Documents, are routinely, periodically,
confidentially, and permanently purged by us once they are no longer useful to us in providing
services to you.
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December 2, 2021

1550 Market Street, Suite 300
Denver, CO 80202
303.764.6000
www.dadavidson.com/ficm
D.A. Davidson & Co. member SIPC

Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District
c/o Paula Williams
McGeady Becher, P.C.
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400
Denver, CO 80203
RE:

Letter Agreement for Investment Banking Services to
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District

District Board,
This letter agreement confirms the terms and conditions upon which D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income
Capital Markets (“Davidson”), its successors or assigns will provide investment banking services to
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “Client”).
The investment banking services rendered by Davidson under this agreement may include:
-

Analysis of the project’s credit quality
Analysis of the capital markets, including interest rates and terms available in the market
Evaluating potential strategies to achieve the Client’s goals
Working with the Client’s consultants and attorneys to determine the feasibility of various
borrowing or restructuring options
Advising the Client on the structure and terms of a restructured bond or a new bond or loan
Coordinating with the Client’s attorneys and consultants, the dissemination of financial data
Negotiating the structure and terms of the Bonds/loan with the purchaser on behalf of the Client
Underwriting or privately placing Bonds on behalf of the Client or assisting the Client in obtaining
a direct, tax exempt loan
Under the direction and legal advice of nationally recognized bond counsel, assist and supervise
the steps necessary to be taken to close the transaction

Delivered with this letter are the disclosures required by MSRB Rule G-17 regarding our role, duties and
interests as an underwriter of the Bonds. By signing this letter agreement, the Client acknowledges and
agrees that: (i) the transaction contemplated by this Agreement will be an arm’s length, commercial
transaction between the Client and the purchaser, in which Davidson may be acting as an agent or as an
underwriter, but not as a municipal advisor, financial advisor or fiduciary to the Issuer; (ii) Davidson has
not assumed any fiduciary responsibility to the Client with respect to the transaction contemplated
hereby and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto; (iii) the only obligations
Davidson will have to the Client with respect to the transaction contemplated hereby are expressly set
D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets
1550 Market Street, Suite 300 • Denver, CO 80202 • (303) 764-6000 • 1-800-942-7557 • FAX (303) 764-5736
http://www.dadavidson.com/ficm/

Dakota Ridge MD
Letter of Engagement
Page 2 of 3

forth in this letter agreement; and (iv) the Issuer has consulted and will continue to consult with its own
legal, accounting, tax, financial and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent it deems appropriate.
The representative of the Client signing this letter agreement has been duly authorized to execute this
letter agreement and to act hereunder.
This letter agreement shall remain in full force and effect until such time as the Client notifies Davidson
in writing of its intent to terminate this letter agreement. Davidson may resign and terminate this letter
agreement by providing written notification with no less than 30 days prior notice to the Client.
At such time as arrangements for the sale of Bonds or other borrowing have been completed, Davidson
shall be paid as shown below, or $30,000, whichever is greater:
- 1.0% of par for the structuring and placement of Bonds with the developer
- 2.0% of par for underwriting/placement of non-investment grade rated senior Bonds
- 3.0% of par for underwriting/placement of subordinate Bonds
In addition to such compensation, the following shall be paid by Client as a component of the cost of
issuance of the Bonds or placement of the debt: (i) legal fees incurred by Davidson’s engagement of
underwriter’s counsel or placement agent’s counsel in connection with the issuance of Bonds or
placement of the debt, as applicable; and (ii) legal fees related to third-party review of past continuing
disclosure compliance. Unless otherwise agreed to by Client, Client’s payment of the foregoing is
contingent upon the sale of Bonds or placement of debt.
This letter agreement is not an offer to purchase Bonds. If the sale of Bonds or other borrowing does
not occur, Davidson shall not be owed compensation. Please indicate by your signature below your
desire to engage D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets to provide investment banking
services on these terms.
Respectfully submitted,
D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets
____________________________
Laci Knowles
Managing Director

ACCEPTED this _____ day of ___________ 2021.
_______________________________
Authorized Officer
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District

D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets
1550 Market Street, Suite 300 • Denver, CO 80202 • (303) 764-6000 • 1-800-942-7557 • FAX (303) 764-5736
http://www.dadavidson.com/ficm/
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EXHIBIT A
D.A. Davidson & Co. (hereinafter referred to as “Davidson” or “underwriter”) intends/ proposes to serve
as an underwriter, and not as a financial advisor or municipal advisor, in connection with the issuance of
the Bonds.
As part of our services as underwriter/senior managing underwriter, Davidson may provide advice
concerning the structure, timing, terms, and other similar matters concerning the issuance of the Bonds.
Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters Role:
(i)

MSRB Rule G-17 requires an underwriter to deal fairly at all times with both municipal issuers
and investors.

(ii)

The underwriters' primary role is to purchase the Bonds with a view to distribution in an
arm's-length transaction with the Issuer. The underwriters financial and other interests that
may differ from those of the Issuer.

(iii) Unlike a municipal advisor, the underwriters do not have a fiduciary duty to the Issuer under
the federal securities laws and are, therefore, not required by federal law to act in the best
interests of the Issuer without regard to their own financial or other interests.
(iv) The Issuer may choose to engage the services of a municipal advisor with a fiduciary
obligation to represent the Issuer’s interest in this transaction.
(v)

The underwriters have a duty to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer at a fair and reasonable
price, but must balance that duty with their duty to sell the Bonds to investors at prices that
are fair and reasonable.

(vi) The underwriter will review the official statement for the Bonds in accordance with, and as
part of, their respective responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws, as
applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction.
Disclosures Concerning the Underwriters Compensation:
As underwriter, Davidson will be compensated by a fee and/or an underwriting discount that will be set
forth in the bond purchase agreement to be negotiated and entered into in connection with the
issuance of the Bonds. Payment or receipt of the underwriting fee or discount will be contingent on the
closing of the transaction and the amount of the fee or discount may be based, in whole or in part, on a
percentage of the principal amount of the Bonds. While this form of compensation is customary in the
municipal securities market, it presents a conflict of interest since the underwriter may have an
incentive to recommend to the Issuer a transaction that is unnecessary or to recommend that the size of
the transaction be larger than is necessary.
Additional Conflicts Disclosure:
Davidson has not identified any additional potential or actual material conflicts that require disclosure.
D.A. Davidson & Co. Fixed Income Capital Markets
1550 Market Street, Suite 300 • Denver, CO 80202 • (303) 764-6000 • 1-800-942-7557 • FAX (303) 764-5736
http://www.dadavidson.com/ficm/
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
8390 East Crescent Pkwy., Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
phone 303-779-5710 fax 303-779-0348
CLAconnect.com

November 18, 2021
Board of Directors
Dakota Ridge Metro District
8390 East Crescent Pkwy., Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Dear Board of Directors:
This master service agreement (“MSA”) documents the terms, objectives, and the nature and limitations of the
services CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) will provide for Dakota Ridge Metro District (“you,”
“your,” or “the district”). The terms of this MSA will apply to the initial and each subsequent statement of work
(“SOW”), unless the MSA is changed in a communication that you and CLA both sign or is terminated as permitted
herein.
Scope of professional services
CLA will provide services as described in one or more SOW that will reference this MSA. The SOW will describe the
scope of professional services; the nature, limitations, and responsibilities related to the specific services CLA will
provide; and the fees for such services.
If modifications or changes are required during CLA’s performance of requested services, or if you request that
we perform any additional services, we will provide you with a separate SOW for your signature. Such SOW will
advise you of the additional fee and time required for such services to facilitate a clear understanding of the
services.
Our services cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, fraud, or noncompliance with laws and regulations. Except
as described in the scope of professional services section of this MSA or any applicable SOW, we have no
responsibility to identify and communicate deficiencies in your internal control as part of any services.
Management responsibilities
Management and, when appropriate, the board of directors of the district acknowledge and understand that our
role is to provide the services identified in an SOW and that management and the board of directors of the district
have certain responsibilities that are fundamental to our undertaking to perform the identified services. The
district may engage CLA to perform management functions to help the board of directors of the district to meet
your responsibilities, but the board of directors of the district acknowledges its management responsibilities.
References to management in this MSA and in an SOW are applicable to the board of directors of the district.
Responsibilities and limitations related to nonattest services
For all nonattest services we may provide to you, your management agrees to assume all management
responsibilities; oversee the services; evaluate the adequacy and results of the services; ensure that your data and
records are complete; and accept responsibility for the results of the services.
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Fees and terms
See the applicable SOW for the fees for the services.
Work may be suspended if your account becomes 90 days or more overdue and will not be resumed until your
account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagements will be deemed to
have been completed even if we have not completed the services. You will be obligated to compensate us for all
time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenditures through the date of termination.
Payments may be made utilizing checks, Bill.com, your online banking platform, CLA’s electronic payment
platform, or any other client initiated payment method approved by CLA. CLA’s electronic online bill pay platform
claconnect.com/billpay accepts credit card and Automated Clearing House (ACH) payments. Instructions for
making direct bank to bank wire transfers or ACH payments will be provided upon request.
Other fees
You also agree to compensate us for any time and expenses, including time and expenses of legal counsel, we may
incur in responding to discovery requests or participating as a witness or otherwise in any legal, regulatory, or
other proceedings that we are asked to respond to on your behalf.
Finance charges and collection expenses
You agree that if any statement is not paid within 30 days from its billing date, the unpaid balance shall accrue
interest at the monthly rate of one and one-quarter percent (1.25%), which is an annual percentage rate of 15%.
In the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due us, reasonable attorney fees and
expenses shall be recoverable.
Mediation
Any disagreement, controversy, or claim (“Dispute”) that may arise out of any aspect of our services or
relationship with you shall be submitted to non-binding mediation by written notice (“Mediation Notice”) to the
other party. In mediation, we will work with you to resolve any differences voluntarily with the aid of an impartial
mediator.
The mediation will be conducted as specified by the mediator and agreed upon by the parties (i.e., you and CLA).
The parties agree to discuss their differences in good faith and to attempt, with the assistance of the mediator, to
reach an amicable resolution of the Dispute.
Each party will bear its own costs in the mediation. The fees and expenses of the mediator will be shared equally
by the parties.
Any Dispute will be governed by the laws of the state of Colorado, without giving effect to choice of law principles.
Limitation of remedies
These limitation of remedies provisions are not applicable for any audit, examination, or agreed-upon
procedures services provided to you.
Our role is strictly limited to the services described in an SOW, and we offer no assurance as to the results or
ultimate outcomes of any services or of any decisions that you may make based on our communications with you.
You agree that it is appropriate to limit the liability of CLA, its partners, principals, directors, officers, employees,
CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 73AC0118-7FFA-4BB1-BF15-123BE24CF2A5

and agents (each a “CLA party”) and that this limitation of remedies provision is governed by the laws of the state
of Colorado, without giving effect to choice of law principles.
You further agree that you will not hold CLA or any other CLA party liable for any claim, cost, or damage, whether
based on warranty, tort, contract, or other law, arising from or related to this MSA, the services provided under
an SOW, the work product, or for any plans, actions, or results of an SOW, except to the extent authorized by this
MSA. In no event shall any CLA party be liable to you for any indirect, special, incidental, consequential, punitive,
or exemplary damages, or for loss of profits or loss of goodwill, costs, or attorney fees.
The exclusive remedy available to you shall be the right to pursue claims for actual damages that are directly
caused by acts or omissions that are breaches by a CLA party of our duties owed under this MSA and the specific
SOW thereunder, but any recovery on any such claims shall not exceed the fees actually paid by you to CLA
pursuant to the SOW that gives rise to the claim.
Time limitation
The nature of our services makes it difficult, with the passage of time, to gather and present evidence that fully
and fairly establishes the facts underlying any dispute that may arise between you and any CLA party. The parties
(you and CLA) agree that, notwithstanding any statute or law of limitations that might otherwise apply to a
dispute, including one arising out of this MSA or the services performed under an SOW, for breach of contract or
fiduciary duty, tort, fraud, misrepresentation or any other cause of action or remedy, any action or legal
proceeding by you against any CLA party must be commenced as provided below, or you shall be forever barred
from commencing a lawsuit or obtaining any legal or equitable relief or recovery. An action to recover on a dispute
shall be commenced within the shorter of these periods (“Limitation Period”):
Consulting services
•

For each service pursuant to an SOW, separately within twenty-four (24) months after the date we deliver
the services or work product pursuant to the SOW on which the dispute is based, regardless of whether
any CLA party provides other services for you under this MSA or other SOW.

•

Within twenty-four (24) months from the date of our last billing for services performed pursuant to the
SOW on which the dispute is based.

•

Within twenty-four (24) months after the termination by either party of either this MSA or the district’s
ongoing relationship with CLA.

Tax services
•

For tax return preparation, separately within thirty-six (36) months after the date when we deliver any
final tax return(s) pursuant to the SOW on which the dispute is based, regardless of whether any CLA party
provides other services for you under this MSA or other SOW relating to said return(s).

•

For tax consulting engagements, separately within thirty-six (36) months from the date of our last billing
for services pursuant to the SOW on which the dispute is based.

•

For all tax return and tax consulting engagements, within twelve (12) months from the date when you
terminate this MSA or the district’s ongoing relationship with CLA.
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Examination, compilation, and preparation services related to prospective financial information
•

For examination, compilation, and preparation services related to prospective financial information (i.e.,
forecasts and projections), separately within twelve (12) months after the dates when we deliver the work
product pursuant to the SOW on which the dispute is based, regardless of whether any CLA party provides
other services for you relating to the work product.

Audit, review, examination, agreed-upon procedures, compilation, and preparation services other than those
related to prospective financial information
•

For audit, review, examination, agreed-upon procedures, compilation, and preparation services,
separately within twenty-four (24) months after the dates when we deliver the work product pursuant to
the SOW on which the dispute is based, regardless of whether any CLA party provides other services for
you relating to the work product.

The applicable Limitation Period applies and begins to run even if you have not suffered any damage or loss, or
have not become aware of the existence or possible existence of a dispute.
CLA shall be authorized to the following cash access services:
•

Using any or a combination of the following methods and approval processes, we will pay your vendors and
service providers based upon invoices that you have reviewed and approved:
o

Paper checks – we will prepare the checks for your approval and wet ink signature.

o

Payments using Bill.com – we will only release payments after you have electronically approved and
authorized such payments.

o

ACH/Wire – we will use this method as needed/as requested, with your approval.

We understand that you will designate one or more members of the Board to approve disbursements using the
above methods.
•

If applicable, access the entity credit card for purposes of purchasing products and services on your behalf up
to a certain limit that will be discussed with you and documented separately.

•

Obtain administrator access to your bank accounts for purposes of performing the duties documented in our
engagement letter identified above.

•

Take deposits to the bank that include cash.

•

If applicable, have access to cash-in-kind assets, such as coupons.

•

If applicable, initiate direct deposits or sign checks as part of the payroll processing function.

Management responsibilities relevant to CLA’s access to your cash
All members of your Board of Directors are responsible for the processes below; however, we understand that
you will designate one or more board members to review and give approvals for disbursements. All approvals
must be documented in writing, either electronically or manually, then formally ratified in board meetings and
documented in the meeting minutes.
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•

Approve all invoices and check payments.

•

Approve all new vendors and customers added to the accounting system.

•

Approve non-recurring wires to external parties.

•

Pre-approve for recurring wires, then Board will ratify approval.

•

Approve all new employees and all employee status changes prior to those employees or changes being
added to the payroll system.

•

Approve all credit card statements prior to those expenses being processed in the accounting system and
subsequently paid.

•

Approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all customer and vendor credit memos and
accounts receivable amounts written off.

•

Review and approve (or delegate to the CLA controller if applicable) all bank statements and affiliated
monthly reconciliations.

Other provisions
Except as permitted by the “Consent” section of this agreement, CLA will not disclose any confidential, proprietary,
or privileged information of the district or you to any person or party, unless the district or you authorizes us to
do so, it is published or released by the district, it becomes publicly known or available other than through
disclosure by us, or disclosure is required by law. This confidentiality provision does not prohibit us from disclosing
your information to one or more of our affiliated companies in order to provide services that you have requested
from us or from any such affiliated company. Any such affiliated company shall be subject to the same restrictions
on the use and disclosure of your information as apply to us.
Pursuant to authority given by law or regulation, we may be requested to make certain workpapers available to a
regulator for its regulatory oversight purposes. We will notify you of any such request, if permitted by law. Access
to the requested workpapers will be provided to the regulator under the supervision of CLA personnel and at a
location designated by our firm. Furthermore, upon request, we may provide copies of selected workpapers to
such regulator. The regulator may intend, or decide, to distribute the copies or information contained therein to
others, including other governmental agencies.
You acknowledge and agree that this agreement and the pricing structure and billing rates of CLA are sensitive
information which you shall not furnish or otherwise disclose to any third party without the prior written consent
of CLA or as required by law.
We will be responsible for our own property and casualty, general liability, and workers compensation insurance,
taxes, professional training, and other personnel costs related to the operation of our business.
When performing the services identified in applicable SOWs, we will utilize the resources available at the district,
when applicable, to the extent practical to continue development of your personnel. During a portion of our work,
we may require the use of your computers. We will try to give you advance notice and coordinate our use so it
does not interfere with your employees.
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The relationship of CLA with the district shall be solely that of an independent contractor and nothing in this
agreement shall be construed to create or imply any relationship of employment, agency, partnership, or any
relationship other than an independent contractor.
If applicable, accounting standards and procedures will be suggested that are consistent with those normally
utilized in a district of your size and nature. Internal controls may be recommended relating to the safeguarding
of the district’s assets. If fraud is initiated by your employees or other service providers, your insurance is
responsible for covering any losses.
The district agrees that CLA will not be assuming any fiduciary responsibility on your behalf during the course of
this agreement, except as may be assumed in a SOW.
CLA may, at times, utilize external web applications to receive and process information from our clients; however,
it is not appropriate for you to upload protected health information using such applications. All protected health
information contained in a document or file that you plan to transmit to us via a web application must be redacted
by you to the maximum extent possible prior to uploading the document or file. In the event that you are unable
to remove or obscure all protected health information, please contact us to discuss other potential options for
transmitting the document or file.
Consent
Consent to use financial information
Annually, we assemble a variety of benchmarking analyses using data obtained through our client engagements.
Some of this benchmarking information is published and released publicly. However, the information that we
obtain is confidential, as required by the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct. Your acceptance of this MSA will
serve as your consent to use of Dakota Ridge Metro District information in these cost comparison, performance
indicator, and/or benchmarking reports.
Subcontractors
CLA may, at times, use subcontractors to perform services under this agreement, and they may have access to
your information and records. Any such subcontractors will be subject to the same restrictions on the use of such
information and records as apply to CLA under this agreement.
Technology
CLA may, at times, use third-party software applications to perform services under this agreement. You authorize
CLA to sign on your behalf any vendor agreements applicable to such software applications. CLA can provide a
copy of the application agreement at your request. You acknowledge the software vendor may have access to
your data.
Termination of MSA
Either party may terminate this MSA at any time by giving 30 days written notice to the other party. In that event,
the provisions of this MSA shall continue to apply to all services rendered prior to termination.
Agreement
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you and believe this MSA accurately summarizes the significant
terms of our relationship. This MSA, along with the applicable SOW(s), constitute the entire agreement regarding
services to be performed and supersedes all prior agreements (whether oral or written), understandings,
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negotiations, and discussions between you and CLA. If you have any questions, please let us know. If you agree
with the terms of our relationship as described in this MSA, please sign, date, and return.
Sincerely,
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Denise Denslow
Principal
Denise.Denslow@CLAconnect.com
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Response:
This agreement correctly sets forth the understanding of Dakota Ridge Metro District.

APPROVED:
____________________________________________
Signature

President, Board of Directors
____________________________________________
Title
11/29/2021

____________________________________________
Date
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CliftonLarsonAllen LLP
8390 East Crescent Pkwy., Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
phone 303-779-5710 fax 303-779-0348
CLAconnect.com

Special Districts Preparation SOW
This agreement constitutes a Statement of Work (“SOW”) to the Master Service Agreement (“MSA”) made by
and between CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) and Dakota Ridge Metro District (“you”
and “your”) dated November 18, 2021. The purpose of this SOW is to outline certain services you wish us to
perform in connection with that agreement.
Scope of professional services
Jason Carroll is responsible for the performance of the preparation engagement and other services identified
in this agreement. He may be assisted by one or more of our authorized signers in the performance of the
preparation engagement.
Ongoing normal accounting services:
•

Outsourced accounting activities
−

For each fund of the district, CLA will generally prepare and maintain the following accounting
records:
o

Cash receipts journal

o

Cash disbursements journal

o

General ledger

o

Accounts receivable journals and ledgers

o

Deposits with banks and financial institutions

o

Schedule of disbursements

o

Bank account reconciliations

o

Investment records

o

Detailed development fee records

−

Process accounts payable including the preparation and issuance of checks for approval by a
designated individual

−

Prepare billings, record billings, enter cash receipts, and track revenues

−

Reconcile certain accounts regularly and prepare journal entries

−

Prepare depreciation schedules
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−

Prepare monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements and supplementary information,
but not perform a compilation with respect to those financial statements. Additional information
is provided below.

−

Prepare a schedule of cash position to manage the district’s cash deposits, funding for
disbursements, and investment programs in accordance with policies established by the district’s
board of directors.

−

Prepare the annual budget and assist with the filing of the annual budget – additional information
is provided below.

−

Assist the district’s board of directors in monitoring actual expenditures against
appropriation/budget.

−

If an audit is required, prepare the year-end financial statements (additional information is
provided below) and related audit schedules for use by the district’s auditors.

−

If an audit is not required, prepare the Application for Exemption from Audit, perform a
compilation engagement with respect to the Application for Exemption from Audit, and assist
with the filing of the Application for Exemption from Audit – additional information is provided
below.

−

Monitor compliance with bond indentures and trust agreements, including preparation of
continuing disclosure reports to the secondary market as required.

−

Review claims for reimbursement from related parties prior to the board of directors’ review and
approval.

−

Read supporting documentation related to the district’s acquisition of infrastructure or other
capital assets completed by related parties for overall reasonableness and completeness.
Procedures in excess of providing overall reasonableness and completeness will be subject to a
separate SOW. These procedures may not satisfy district policies, procedures, and agreements’
requirements. Note: our procedures should not be relied upon as the final authorization for this
transaction.

−

Attend board meetings as requested.

−

Be available during the year to consult with you on any accounting matters related to the district.

−

Review and approve monthly reconciliations and journal entries prepared by staff

−

Reconcile complex accounts monthly and prepare journal entries

−

Analyze financial statements and present to management and the board of directors.

−

Develop and track key business metrics as requested and review periodically with the board of
directors.

−

Document accounting processes and procedures

−

Continue process and procedure improvement implementation
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−

Report and manage cash flows

−

Assist with bank communications.

−

Perform other nonattest services.

Compilation services
If an audit is not required, we will complete the Application for Exemption from Audit in the form prescribed
by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and perform a compilation engagement with respect to the
Application for Exemption from Audit.
Preparation services – financial statements
We will prepare the monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information if applicable of the district, which comprise the balance sheet –
governmental funds and the related statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance –
general fund. The financial statements will not include the related notes to the financial statements; the
government-wide financial statements; the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances – governmental funds; statement of cash flows for business type activities, if applicable; and
required supplementary information.
Preparation services - annual
If an audit is required, we will prepare the year-end financial statements of the government wide
governmental activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information if applicable, and Management Discussion
and Analysis, if applicable, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of the district, and the
related notes to the financial statements. The year-end financial statements, including the related notes to
the financial statements, will be prepared for use by the district’s auditors.
Preparation services – prospective financial information (i.e., unexpired budget information)
You have requested that we prepare the financial forecast, which comprises the forecasted financial
statements identified below.
A financial forecast presents, to the best of management’s knowledge and belief, the entity’s expected
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the forecast period. It is based on management’s
assumptions reflecting conditions it expects to exist and the course of action it expects to take during the
forecast period.
The financial forecast will omit substantially all of the disclosures required by the guidelines for presentation
of a financial forecast established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA
presentation guidelines) other than those related to the significant assumptions.
The supplementary information accompanying the financial forecast will be prepared and presented for
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial forecast.
References to financial statements in the remainder of this SOW are to be taken as a reference to also include
the prospective financial information, where applicable.
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Engagement objectives and our responsibilities
The objectives of our engagement are to:
a. Prepare monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP), except for the departures
from U.S. GAAP identified above, based on information provided by you and information generated
through our outsourced accounting services.
b. As requested, apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of
your monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements without undertaking to obtain or provide
any assurance that there are no material modifications that should be made to the financial
statements in order for them to be in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except for the departures from
U.S. GAAP identified above.
c. Prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised
Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 based on information provided by you.
d. Apply accounting and financial reporting expertise to assist you in the presentation of the annual
budget without undertaking to obtain or provide any assurance that there are no material
modifications that should be made to the annual budget in order for the annual budget to be in
accordance with requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105.
e. If an audit is required, prepare the year-end financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) based on information
provided by you.
f.

If applicable, we will complete the Application for Exemption from Audit in the form prescribed by
the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and perform a compilation engagement on the application.

We will conduct our preparation and compilation engagements in accordance with Statements on Standards
for Accounting and Review Services (SSARSs) promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee
of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and comply with the AICPA's Code of
Professional Conduct, including the ethical principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence, and
due care.
Engagement procedures and limitations
We are not required to, and will not, verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided to us
for the engagement or otherwise gather evidence for the purpose of expressing an opinion or a conclusion.
Accordingly, we will not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any assurance on the financial
statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit is not required), the
year-end financial statements (if an audit is required), and the supplementary information.
Our engagement cannot be relied upon to identify or disclose any misstatements in the monthly/quarterly/as
requested financial statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit, and the yearend financial statements, including misstatements caused by fraud or error, or to identify or disclose any
wrongdoing within the district or noncompliance with laws and regulations. We have no responsibility to
identify and communicate deficiencies in your internal control as part of this engagement. You agree that we
shall not be responsible for any misstatements in the district’s financial statements, the annual budget, the
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Application for Exemption from Audit, and the year-end financial statements that we may not identify as a
result of misrepresentations made to us by you.
Our report
The compilation report on the Application for Exemption from Audit will state that management is responsible
for the accompanying application included in the prescribed form, that we performed a compilation of the
application, that we did not audit or review the application, and that, accordingly, we do not express an
opinion a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on it. The report will also state that the Application
for Exemption from Audit is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Colorado Office of the
State Auditor and is not intended to be a presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. The report will include a statement that the report is intended solely
for the information and use of the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and is not intended to be and should
not be used by anyone other than this specified party and may not be suitable for another purpose.
There may be circumstances in which the report may differ from its expected form and content. If, for any
reason, we are unable to complete the compilation, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if an audit is
not required), we will not issue reports on budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit as a result of this
engagement.
No assurance statements
The monthly/quarterly/as requested financial statements prepared for the district will not be accompanied
by a report. However, management agrees that each page of the financial statements will include a statement
clearly indicating that no assurance is provided on them.
As part of our preparation of financial statements each page of the financial statements and supplementary
information will include the following statement: “No assurance is provided on these financial statements.
Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and the statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted if applicable,
For best business type activities the Statement of Cash Flows has been omitted”.
If an audit is required, the year-end financial statements prepared for use by the district’s auditors will not be
accompanied by a report. However, management agrees that each page of the year-end financial statements
will include a statement clearly indicating that no assurance is provided on them.
Management responsibilities
The financial statement engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management
acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP
and assist management in the presentation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except
for the departures from U.S. GAAP identified above.
The annual budget engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that management acknowledges
and understands that our role is to prepare the annual budget in accordance with the requirements prescribed
by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29.1.105 and assist management in the presentation of the annual budget
in accordance with the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29.1.105.
The Application for Exemption from Audit engagement to be performed is conducted on the basis that
management acknowledges and understands that our role is to prepare the Application for Exemption from
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Audit in accordance with the requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor and assist
management in the presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit in accordance with the
requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor.
We are required by professional standards to identify management’s responsibilities in this agreement.
Professional standards define management as the persons with executive responsibility for the conduct of
the district’s operations and may include some or all of those charged with governance. Those standards
require that you acknowledge and understand that management has the following overall responsibilities that
are fundamental to our undertaking the engagement in accordance with SSARSs:
a. The selection of the financial reporting framework to be applied in the preparation of the financial
statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit.
b. The preparation and fair preparation of the financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, except
as identified as above, the preparation and fair presentation of the annual budget in accordance with
the requirements prescribed by Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29.1.105, and the preparation and
fair presentation of the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) in accordance with the
requirements prescribed by the Colorado Office of the State Auditor.
c. The presentation of the supplementary information.
d. The design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from
Audit (if applicable) that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
e. The prevention and detection of fraud.
f.

To ensure that the entity complies with the laws and regulations applicable to its activities.

g. The accuracy and completeness of the records, documents, explanations, and other information,
including significant judgments, you provide to us for the engagement to prepare financial
statements.
h. To provide us with the following:
i.

Access to all information relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements, and the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) such
as records, documentation, and other matters.

ii.

Additional information that may be requested for the purpose of the engagement.

iii.

Unrestricted access to persons within the entity with whom we determine it necessary to
communicate.

We understand that you are engaging us to make recommendations and perform services to help you meet
your responsibilities relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements, the annual
budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable).
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For all accounting services we may provide to you, including the preparation of your financial statements, the
annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable), management agrees to assume
all management responsibilities; oversee the services by designating an individual (i.e., the Board Treasurer);
evaluate the adequacy and results of the services; and accept responsibility for the results of the services.
Fees, time estimates, and terms
Our professional fees will be billed based on the time involved and the degree of responsibility and skills
required. We will also bill for expenses (including internal and administrative charges) plus a technology and
client support fee of five percent (5%) of all professional fees billed. Our invoices for these fees will be
rendered each month as work progresses and are payable on presentation. In accordance with our firm
policies, work may be suspended if your account becomes 60 days or more overdue and will not be resumed
until your account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagement will
be deemed to have been completed even if we have not issued our report. You will be obligated to
compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenditures through the date
of termination.
The hour rates currently in effect for our services are as follows:
Principal
Chief Financial Officer
Controller
Senior
Staff
Administrative support

$300 - $425
$200 - $385
$180 - $250
$140 - $180
$ 80 - $150
$ 80 - $120

Out-of-pocket expenses such as out-of-town travel, meals, and lodging will be billed at cost and are not
included in the fees quoted above. We will also add a technology and client support fee of five percent (5%)
of all professional fees billed. The fee estimates are based on anticipated cooperation from your personnel
and their assistance with preparing requested schedules. If the requested items are not available on the dates
required or are not accurate, the estimated fees will likely be higher. If unexpected circumstances require
significant additional time, we will advise you before undertaking work that would require a substantial
increase in the fee estimates.
Use of financial statements, the annual budget, the Application for Exemption from Audit
The financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) are
for management’s use. If you intend to reproduce and publish the financial statements, the annual budget,
and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) and our report thereon, they must be reproduced
in their entirety. Inclusion of the financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption
from Audit (if applicable) in a document, such as an annual report or an offering document, should be done
only with our prior approval of the document. You are responsible to provide us the opportunity to review
such documents before issuance.
With regard to the electronic dissemination of financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application
for Exemption from Audit (if applicable) that have been subjected to a compilation engagement, including
financial statements, the annual budget, and the Application for Exemption from Audit (if applicable)
published electronically on your website, you understand that electronic sites are a means to distribute
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information and, therefore, we are not required to read the information contained in those sites or to consider
the consistency of other information in the electronic site with the original document.
We may issue preliminary draft financial statements to you for your review. Any preliminary draft financial
statements should not be relied on or distributed.
Municipal advisors
For the avoidance of doubt, the district is not engaging CLA as a municipal advisor, and CLA is not a municipal
advisor as defined in Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or under
Section 158 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”). CLA is not recommending an action to you, is
not acting as an advisor to you, and does not owe a fiduciary duty to you pursuant to Section 158 of the Act
with respect to the information and material contained in the deliverables issued under this engagement. You
should discuss any information and material contained in the deliverables with any and all internal and
external advisors that you deem appropriate before acting on this information or material.
Additional provisions required by CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(a)(I) and (II)
Unlawful employees, contractors, and subcontractors
We shall not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work under this
contact. We shall not knowingly contract with a subcontractor that (a) knowingly employs or contracts with a
worker without authorization to perform work under this contract or (b) fails to certify to us that the
subcontractor will not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work
under this contact. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(a)(I) and (II)]
Verification regarding workers without authorization
We have verified or attempted to verify through participation in the E-Verify Program or the Department
Program [as defined in CRS 8-17.5-101(3.3) and (3.7) of the state of Colorado that we do not employ and
contract workers without authorization.
Limitation regarding E-Verify Program and the Department Program
We shall not use the E-Verify Program or the Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment
screening of job applicants while performing this contract. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(II)]
Duty to terminate a subcontractor and exceptions
If we obtain actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this contract knowingly employs
or contracts with a worker without authorization, we shall, unless the subcontractor provides information to
establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with a worker without
authorization.
(1) Notify the subcontractor and the district within three days that we have actual knowledge that the
subcontractor is employing or contracting with a worker without authorization; and
(2) Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if, within three days of receiving notice that we
have actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with a worker without
authorization, the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the worker without
authorization. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(A) and (B)]
CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Duty to comply with state investigation
We shall comply with any reasonable request of the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment made in
the course of an investigation pursuant to CRS 8-17.5-102(5). [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(IV)]
Agreement
We appreciate the opportunity to provide the services described in this SOW related to the MSA. All terms
and provisions of the MSA shall apply to these services. If you agree with the terms of this SOW, please sign
below and return a signed copy to us by email or U.S. mail to indicate your acknowledgment and
understanding of, and agreement with, this SOW.
Sincerely,
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Jason Carroll, CPA
Principal
Jason.Carroll@CLAconnect.com

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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APPROVED:

____________________________________________
Signature

____________________________________________
Title

____________________________________________
Date

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Special Districts Management Services SOW
This agreement constitutes a Statement of Work (“SOW”) to the Master Service Agreement (“MSA”) made by and
between CliftonLarsonAllen LLP (“CLA,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) and Dakota Ridge Metro District (“you” and “your”)
dated November 18, 2021. The purpose of this SOW is to outline certain services you wish us to perform in
connection with that agreement.
Scope of professional services
Denise Denslow is responsible for the performance of the engagement and other services identified in this
agreement. They may be assisted by one or more of our authorized signers in the performance of the engagement.
Scope of Management Services
CLA will perform the following services for the District:
District Board of Directors (“Board”) Meetings
• Coordination of all Board meetings;
• Meeting Attendance: District Manager and/or designee will attend all Board meetings;
• Preparation and distribution of agenda and informational materials;
• Preparation of meeting minutes for all meetings;
• Preparation and posting of legal notices required in conjunction with the meetings;
• Other details incidental to meeting preparation and follow-up.
Recordkeeping
• Maintain lists of persons and organizations for correspondence;
• Vendor listing as needed or requested by the Board;
• Repository of all District records and act as Custodian of records for purposes of CORA (as that term is
defined in the District’s Resolution Designating an Official Custodian for Purposes of the Colorado Open
Records Act, Sections 24-72-201 et seq., C.R.S.).
Communications
• 24/7 answering and paging services;
• Website administration. It is recommended that the District have a website; however, CLA will not
provide a website for the District on CLA’s website. CLA will oversee daily management and
maintenance of the District website as needed or requested by the District;
• Respond to routine inquiries, questions and requests for information regarding the District;
• Periodic reports to the Board regarding the status of District matters and actions taken or contemplated
by the District Manager on behalf of the District as requested by the Board;
• Provide liaison and coordination with municipal, county and state governmental agencies.

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Contract Administration
• Insurance administration, including risk evaluation, comparison of coverage, processing claims,
completion of applications, monitoring expiration dates, processing routine written and telephone
correspondence;
• Ensure all contractors and sub-contractors maintain the required insurance coverage for the
District’s benefit;
• Bidding, contract and construction administration and supervision of project processes assigned by
the Board and project contractors;
• Confer with and coordinate legal, accounting, engineering, auditing and other professional
services to the District by those professionals and consultants retained by the District as directed
by the Board (CLA itself will not and cannot provide legal services);
• Represent the District with other entities and bodies as requested by the Board (but not as
its representative for legal matters);
• Bid, contract, and supervise all District vendors
Document Administration
• Provide coordination and administration for the continuing revision of the District’s Rules and
Regulations;
• Provide framed aerial photographic mapping of the District, if requested;
• In conjunction with and at the direction of the District’s legal counsel, coordinate all elections
for the District in accordance with state law, including preparation of election materials,
publications, legal notices, training session for election judges and general election
assistance; CLA will not serve as the Designated Election Official (“DEO”);
• Administer any legal documents, permits, or agreements that relate to or District facilities
and any Rules and Regulations adopted by the Board.
Accounts Payable Services to be Provided:
• Receive and process all invoices;
• Coordinate review, approval and coding of all invoices with District Accountant and Board to
ensure timely payment
In addition to these services, when, in the professional opinion of the District Manager, other services
are necessary, the District Manager shall recommend the same to the Board or perform such services and
report to the Board the nature of such services, the reason they were required, and the result achieved;
provided however, with the exception of emergencies, that if such additional services are expected
to cost more than $2,000.00, the District Manager shall discuss such costs with the Board and receive
prior authorization to perform such services.
Fees, time estimates, and terms
Our professional fees will be billed based on the time involved and the degree of responsibility and skills
required. We will also bill for expenses (including internal and administrative charges) plus a technology and
client support fee of five percent (5%) of all professional fees billed. Our invoices for these fees will be
rendered each month as work progresses and are payable on presentation. In accordance with our firm
CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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policies, work may be suspended if your account becomes 60 days or more overdue and will not be resumed
until your account is paid in full. If we elect to terminate our services for nonpayment, our engagement will
be deemed to have been completed even if we have not issued our report. You will be obligated to
compensate us for all time expended and to reimburse us for all out-of-pocket expenditures through the date
of termination.
CLA’S 2021 STANDARD HOURLY RATES FOR PUBLIC MANAGEMENT SERVICES:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Principals
Public managers
Assistant public managers
Public management analysts
District administrators
Records retention coordinators

$190 - $375
$190 - $325
$110 - $150
$110 - $150
$125 - $145
$ 90 - $115

Out-of-pocket expenses such as out-of-town travel, meals, and lodging will be billed at cost and are not
included in the fees quoted above. The fee estimates are based on anticipated cooperation from your
personnel and their assistance with preparing requested schedules. If the requested items are not available
on the dates required or are not accurate, the estimated fees will likely be higher. If unexpected circumstances
require significant additional time, we will advise you before undertaking work that would require a
substantial increase in the fee estimates.
Municipal advisors
For the avoidance of doubt, the district is not engaging CLA as a municipal advisor, and CLA is not a municipal
advisor as defined in Section 975 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or under
Section 158 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Act”). CLA is not recommending an action to you, is
not acting as an advisor to you, and does not owe a fiduciary duty to you pursuant to Section 158 of the Act
with respect to the information and material contained in the deliverables issued under this engagement. You
should discuss any information and material contained in the deliverables with any and all internal and
external advisors that you deem appropriate before acting on this information or material.
Additional provisions required by CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(a)(I) and (II)
Unlawful employees, contractors, and subcontractors
We shall not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work under this
contact. We shall not knowingly contract with a subcontractor that (a) knowingly employs or contracts with a
worker without authorization to perform work under this contract or (b) fails to certify to us that the
subcontractor will not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work
under this contact. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(a)(I) and (II)]
Verification regarding workers without authorization
We have verified or attempted to verify through participation in the E-Verify Program or the Department
Program [as defined in CRS 8-17.5-101(3.3) and (3.7) of the state of Colorado that we do not employ or
contract workers without authorization.
Limitation regarding E-Verify Program and the Department Program
We shall not use the E-Verify Program or the Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment
screening of job applicants while performing this contract. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(II)]
CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.
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Duty to terminate a subcontractor and exceptions
If we obtain actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this contract knowingly employs
or contracts with a worker without authorization, we shall, unless the subcontractor provides information to
establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with a worker without
authorization.
(1) Notify the subcontractor and the district within three days that we have actual knowledge that the
subcontractor is employing or contracting with a worker without authorization; and
(2) Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if, within three days of receiving notice that we
have actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with a worker without
authorization, the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the worker without
authorization. [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(A) and (B)]
Duty to comply with state investigation
We shall comply with any reasonable request of the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment made in
the course of an investigation pursuant to CRS 8-17.5-102(5). [CRS 8-17.5-102(2)(b)(IV)]
Agreement
We appreciate the opportunity to provide the services described in this SOW related to the MSA. All terms
and provisions of the MSA shall apply to these services. If you agree with the terms of this SOW, please sign
below and return a signed copy to us by email or U.S. mail to indicate your acknowledgment and
understanding of, and agreement with, this SOW.
Sincerely,
CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Denise Denslow
Principal
Denise.Denslow@CLAconnect.com

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.

DocuSign Envelope ID: 73AC0118-7FFA-4BB1-BF15-123BE24CF2A5

November 18, 2021
Dakota Ridge Metro Disrict
Page 5

APPROVED:

____________________________________________
Signature

____________________________________________
Title

____________________________________________
Date

CLA is an independent member of Nexia International, a leading, global network of independent
accounting and consulting firms. See nexia.com/member-firm-disclaimer for details.

SERVICE AGREEMENT FOR
DISTRICT ENGINEERING AND COST VERIFICATION SERVICES
THIS SERVICE AGREEMENT FOR DISTRICT ENGINEERING AND COST
VERIFICATION SERVICES (“Agreement”) is entered into and effective as of the ____ day
of ___________, 20____, by and between DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT,
a quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”),
and KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC., a North Carolina corporation (the
“Consultant”) (each a “Party” and, collectively, the “Parties”).
RECITALS
A.
The District was organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Colorado in order
to construct, operate and maintain certain public facilities and improvements in accordance with
its service plan (the “Improvements”).
B.
Pursuant to Section 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is permitted to enter
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District.
C.
The Consultant has experience in providing the services, as set forth in Exhibit A
hereto, attached and incorporated herein (the “Services”), and is willing to provide such Services
to the District for reasonable consideration.
D.
The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to establish the terms by which the
Consultant will provide the Services to the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises set forth
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as
follows:
I. CONSULTANT DUTIES AND AUTHORITY
1.1

Duties of Consultant. The Consultant shall:

(a)
Perform the Services, safely and in accordance with the standard of care,
skill, and diligence provided by a professional consultant in performance of work similar to the
Services in the area of the District.
(b)
Be properly qualified to perform the Services. The Consultant agrees that
the quality of the Services shall be as specified in this Agreement, shall conform with the
standard of care provided by a professional consultant in the performance of work similar to the
Services.
(c)
Take precautions necessary for safely and prudently conducting the
Services required by this Agreement, including maintaining insurance as required under Section
4.2 hereof.
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(d)
Advise the District of the status of the Services required by this
Agreement on a regular basis and work in coordination with the District’s consultants in an effort
to assure that the District has the most complete information available for the exercise of the
District’s powers and discretionary authority.
(e)
Refrain from entering into any contract, oral or written, in the name of the
District, and from incurring any debt, liability or obligation for or on behalf of the District. All
obligations incurred by the Consultant shall be obligations of the Consultant and the Consultant
shall hold the District harmless therefrom.
1.2

Limitations on Authority.

(a)
The Consultant shall have no right or authority, expressed or implied, to
take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate the District in any
manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement or specifically
authorized or ratified by the board of directors of the District as reflected in the minutes of the
District board meetings. The Consultant shall at all times conform to the stated policies
established and approved by the District and provided to Consultant by District in writing.
(b)
Independent Contractor Status. The Consultant is an independent
contractor, as provided in Section 8-40-202(2)(b)(I)-(IV), C.R.S., as amended, and nothing
herein contained shall constitute or designate the Consultant or any of its employees,
subcontractors or suppliers as employees of the District. The Services to be performed by the
Consultant shall be at its sole cost, risk and expense, and no part of the cost thereof shall be
charged to the District, except the payments to be made by the District to the Consultant for the
Services performed as provided herein. The District shall not be responsible for the Consultant’s
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of work or for safety precautions incident
thereto. The Consultant is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits and the
Consultant is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys earned pursuant
to this Agreement.
1.3
Compliance with Applicable Law. The Consultant shall provide the Services set
forth herein in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations of any federal, state,
county, or municipal body or agency thereof having jurisdiction over the activities of the District,
including but not limited to:
1.4
No Right or Interest in District Assets. The Consultant shall have no right or
interest in any of the District’s assets, nor any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of
this Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated herein.
1.5
Certification of Compliance with Illegal Alien Statute. By its execution hereof,
the Consultant confirms and ratifies all of the certifications, statements, representations and
warranties set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof by this reference.
1.6
Work Product. “Work Product” shall consist of all written materials maintained
by the Consultant in connection with performance of this Agreement, including all test results,
logs, surveys, maps, plans, drawings, specifications, reports, PDF formatted electronic files and
other documents, in whatever form. The Consultant shall maintain reproducible copies of any
{00913769.DOCX v:2 }
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test results and logs which it obtains and shall make them available for the District’s use, and
shall provide such copies to the District upon request at reasonable commercial printing rates.
Consultant agrees all right, title and interest in the Work Product is and shall remain the property
of the District, upon receipt of payment by Consultant from the District for the Services provided
by Consultant in connection with the Work Product. If requested by the District, Consultant
shall execute and deliver such documents as shall be reasonably necessary in the District’s
discretion, to assign, transfer and convey all rights in the Work Product to the District or its
assignee subject to approval of Consultant, which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Further,
all Work Product, whether in paper or electronic form, reproductions thereof, or any information
or instruments derived therefrom, shall be provided to the District immediately upon termination
of this Agreement.
II. COMPENSATION
2.1
Compensation. The Consultant shall be paid as set forth in Exhibit A attached
hereto on a time and materials basis, unless otherwise approved in advance by the District
through a written change order in form substantially as attached hereto as Exhibit C (“Change
Order”).
2.2
Monthly Invoices and Payments. The Consultant shall submit to the District a
monthly invoice, in a form acceptable to the District. Invoices shall be submitted and paid no
more frequently than once a month.
2.3
Expenses. The Consultant is responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance
of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as set
forth in Exhibit A, unless otherwise approved in advance by the District in writing.
2.4
Subject to Annual Budget and Appropriation; District Debt. The District does not
intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation
whatsoever. The performance of those obligations of the District hereunder requiring budgeting
and appropriation of funds is subject to annual budgeting and appropriation. Nothing herein
constitutes or creates an indebtedness or debt of the District within the meaning of any Colorado
constitutional provision or statutory limitation.
III. TERM AND TERMINATION
3.1
Term. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the date set forth above, and
shall expire upon satisfactory completion of the Services. Extensions of this Agreement must be
pursuant to a Change Order executed by both Parties.
3.2
Termination. The District may terminate this Agreement for convenience or for
cause, in whole or in part, by written notice of termination given to the Consultant at least thirty
(30) days prior to the effective date of such termination. The Consultant may terminate this
Agreement for convenience or for cause, in whole or in part, by written notice of termination
given to the District at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such termination. Any
termination notice provided pursuant to this Section 3.2 shall specify the extent of termination
and the effective date of the same.
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The District shall pay the Consultant for all Services satisfactorily performed
through the termination date.
IV. INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE
4.1
Indemnification. The Consultant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold the District
and its affiliated entities and their respective directors, trustees, officers, members, managers,
and employees (collectively, the “Indemnitees”), harmless from liability for damage, including,
but not limited to, the reimbursement of reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs, arising out of death
or bodily injury to persons or damage to property, in such amount that is represented by the
degree or percentage of negligence attributable to the Consultant and/or its representatives,
subcontractors, or suppliers.
4.2
Insurance Requirements. The Consultant shall procure, at its sole cost and
expense, the insurance coverages set forth below, which insurance shall be placed with insurance
companies rated at least “A:XIII” by A.M. Best Company. The Consultant shall give notice to
the District at least thirty (30) days prior to the cancellation or nonrenewal of such policies. The
Consultant shall give notice to the District within five (5) business days, or as soon as
practicable, of any modification of any such policies. Consultant’s cost of maintaining the
insurances required hereunder shall not be considered a reimbursable expense of the Consultant.
The Consultant shall, upon request, promptly furnish the District with copies of policies obtained
pursuant to this Section 4.2. Prior to commencing the Services, the Consultant shall furnish the
District with certificates evidencing such insurance and provided further, however, with respect
to the Workers’ Compensation Insurance required below, the Consultant must furnish to the
District, prior to the commencement of any Services, duly executed and validated forms as
prescribed by the state authority having jurisdiction evidencing that such insurance is in full
force and effect. The District shall not pay any invoices until Consultant provides the certificates
evidencing such insurance and Workers’ Compensation coverage.
(a)

Liability Insurance Coverage.

(i)
Workers’ Compensation Insurance. A Workers’ Compensation
Insurance Policy in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the District and in an amount
not less than the statutory benefits, including Employer’s Liability Insurance with limits of
liability of not less than (i) $500,000 for bodily injury by accident, each accident; (ii) $500,000
for bodily injury by disease, each employee; and (iii) $500,000 aggregate liability for disease.
The Workers’ Compensation Insurance Policy, or an endorsement to such policy, must include a
waiver of subrogation in favor of the District.
(ii)
Commercial General Liability Insurance. A Commercial
General Liability Insurance Policy written on an occurrence basis, in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to the District, which policy shall include, without limitation, the District
as an additional insured, a waiver of subrogation endorsement in favor of the District, cross
liability and severability of interest endorsements, endorsements providing that the coverage
afforded by the insurance policy or policies is primary and non-contributing with any other
insurance maintained by or available to the District, and appropriate language providing the
following coverages: Premises and Operations Liability; Personal Injury Liability; Broad Form
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Property Damage Liability; Contractual Liability supporting the Consultant’s indemnification
agreements in favor of the District; Completed Operations and Products Liability. The
Commercial General Liability Insurance Policy must be written with a combined single limit of
liability of not less than $1,000,000 for each occurrence of bodily injury and/or property damage
and an annual aggregate of liability of not less than $2,000,000 for bodily injury and/or property
damage, and an annual aggregate of liability of not less than $2,000,000 for Completed
Operations and Products Liability.
(iii)
Automobile Liability Insurance. An Automobile Liability
Insurance Policy written on a per accident basis, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to
the District. The Automobile Liability Insurance Policy must provide coverage for all owned,
hired, rented and nonowned automobiles, and must include uninsured motorist coverages. The
Automobile Liability Insurance Policy must be written with a combined single limit of liability
of not less than $1,000,000 for each accident for bodily injury and/or property damage.
(iv)
Excess Liability Insurance. An Excess Liability Insurance
Policy written in excess of the coverages provided by the insurance policies described in the
preceding Subsections 4.2(a)(i) - (iii), in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the
District, which policy will include the District as additional insured. The Excess Liability
Insurance Policy must be written with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000 for
each occurrence of bodily injury/or property damage and annual aggregate.
(v)
Professional Liability Insurance Coverage. The Consultant
shall obtain and, continuously thereafter for three (3) years from the date of substantial
completion of the design, maintain in full force and effect a claims made policy covering errors,
omissions and negligent acts in the performance of its Services hereunder, in an amount of
$1,000,000 per claim and annual aggregate. The Consultant shall be solely responsible for the
payment of all deductibles. Consultant’s deductibles or Consultant’s self-insured retentions shall
be approved by the District.
(b)
Failure to Obtain and Obligation to Maintain Insurance. If the Consultant
fails to furnish and maintain insurance as required by this Section 4.2, the District may purchase
such insurance at a reasonable rate on behalf of the Consultant and deduct the cost of such
insurance premium(s) from the compensation otherwise owed to the Consultant, and the
Consultant shall furnish to the District any information needed to obtain such insurance. Except
as otherwise expressly provided herein, all insurance policies required by the terms of this
section shall be kept in full force and effect until the date of final payment to the Consultant for
the Services specified in this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
this Agreement, the foregoing insurance requirements are in no way intended to, and will not in
any manner, limit or qualify the liabilities and/or indemnities assumed by the Consultant under
or pursuant to this Agreement.
(c)
Effect of Approval or Acceptance of Insurance. District acceptance and/or
approval of any or all of the insurances required hereunder does not and shall not be construed to
relieve Consultant from any obligations, responsibilities or liabilities under this Agreement.
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V. MISCELLANEOUS
5.1
Assignment. The Consultant shall not assign any of its rights or delegate any of
its duties hereunder to any person or entity. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation
of the provisions hereof shall be void and of no effect.
5.2
Modification; Amendment. This Agreement may be amended from time to time
by agreement between the Parties hereto; provided, however, that no amendment, modification,
or alteration of the terms or provisions hereof shall be binding upon the District or the Consultant
unless the same is in writing and duly executed by the Parties.
5.3
Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties
with respect to the matters addressed herein. All prior discussions and negotiations regarding the
subject matter hereof are merged herein.
5.4
Severability. If any covenant, term, condition, or provision under this Agreement
shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of
such covenant, term, condition, or provision shall not affect any other provision contained
herein, the intention being that such provisions are severable.
5.5
Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed and
construed under the laws of the State of Colorado. Venue for any legal action relating to this
Agreement shall be exclusive to the State District Court in and for the County of Jefferson,
Colorado.
5.6
Paragraph Headings. Paragraph headings are inserted for convenience of
reference only.
5.7
Parties Interested Herein. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is
intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the District and
the Consultant any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any
covenants, terms, conditions, or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and
provisions in this Agreement by and on behalf of the District and the Consultant shall be for the
sole and exclusive benefit of the District and the Consultant.
5.8
Notices. All notices, demands, requests or other communications to be sent by
one Party to the other hereunder or required by law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been validly given or served by delivery of same in person to the addressee or by courier
delivery via Federal Express or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, by
electronically-confirmed email transmission, or by depositing same in the United States mail,
postage prepaid, addressed as follows:
To District:
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Attn: ___________
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With a Copy To:

McGeady Becher P.C.
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400
Denver, Colorado 80203
Phone: (303) 592-4380
Email: legalnotices@specialdistrictlaw.com

To Consultant:

Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.
45282 S. Ulster Street, Suite 1500
Denver, Colorado 80237
Phone: (303) 228-2300
Email: dan.skeehan@kimley-horn.com
Attn: Dan Skeehan, P.E.

All notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be effective upon
such personal delivery or one (1) business day after being deposited with Federal Express or
other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, upon electronically-confirmed email
transmission, or three (3) business days after deposit in the United States mail. By giving the
other Party hereto at least ten (10) days’ written notice thereof in accordance with the provisions
hereof, each of the Parties shall have the right from time to time to change its address.
5.9
Default/Remedies. If either Party fails to perform any of its responsibilities,
obligations or agreements to be performed in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement,
and if such failure of performance continues for a period of thirty (30) days following written
notice of default from the other Party (or such additional period of time as may reasonably be
required to cure such default; provided that the curative action is commenced within such thirty
(30) day period and is diligently and continuously pursued to completion), then the nondefaulting Party, at its option, may elect (i) to treat this Agreement as remaining in full force and
effect; or (ii) terminate this Agreement as of any specified date. The non-defaulting Party shall
additionally be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or in equity. In the event of any
litigation or other proceeding to enforce the terms, covenants or conditions hereof, the nondefaulting Party in any such litigation or other proceeding shall obtain as part of its judgment or
award its reasonable attorneys’ fees.
5.10 Instruments of Further Assurance. Each Party covenants it will do, execute,
acknowledge, and deliver or cause to be done, executed, acknowledged, and delivered, such acts,
instruments, and transfers as may reasonably be required for the performance of their obligations
hereunder.
5.11 Compliance with Law. This Agreement is intended to be performed in
accordance with and only to the extent permitted by all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, and
regulations of the jurisdiction in which the Agreement is performed. The Consultant declares it
has complied and will comply with all federal, state and local laws regarding business permits,
certificates and licenses required to perform the Services.
5.12 Non-Waiver. No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, nor shall such waiver
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constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided herein, nor shall the waiver
of any default hereunder be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent default hereunder.
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement, no term or condition of this
Agreement shall be construed or interpreted as a waiver, either expressed or implied, of any of
the immunities, rights, benefits or protection provided to the District under the Colorado
Governmental Immunity Act.
5.13 Inurement. This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the heirs, executors,
administrator, successors, and permitted assigns of the Parties hereto.
5.14 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each
of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.
5.15 Conflicts. If any term or provision(s) in any Exhibit attached as part of this
Agreement conflicts with any term or provision(s) in the body of this Agreement, the term or
provision(s) contained in the body of this Agreement shall control.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO SERVICE AGREEMENT]
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year first above written.
Consultant:
KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES,
INC., a North Carolina corporation
By:
Its:
STATE OF COLORADO

)
) ss.
)

COUNTY OF ___________

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ___________,
20____, by ___________, as ___________ of Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc..
Witness my hand and official seal.
My commission expires:
Notary Public
District:
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
President
STATE OF COLORADO

)
) ss.
)

COUNTY OF ___________

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ___________,
20____, by ___________, as President of Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District.
Witness my hand and official seal.
My commission expires:
Notary Public
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EXHIBIT A
SCOPE OF SERVICES AND COMPENSATION
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EXHIBIT B
CERTIFICATION OF CONSULTANT
1.
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 8-17.5–102(1), C.R.S., the Consultant
hereby certifies to the District that the Consultant does not knowingly employ or contract with an
illegal alien who will perform work under the Agreement and that it will participate in the EVerify Program or Department Program (as defined in Sections 8-17.5-101(3.3) and (3.7),
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees of the Consultant who
are newly hired to perform work under the Agreement.
2.

In accordance with Section 8-17.5-102(2)(a), C.R.S., the Consultant shall not:

(a)
the Agreement; or

Knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under

(b)
Enter into a contract with a subcontractor that fails to certify to the
Consultant that the subcontractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to
perform work under the Agreement.
3.
The Consultant represents and warrants it has confirmed the employment
eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the
Agreement through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program.
4.
The Consultant is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while
the Agreement is in effect.
5.
If the Consultant obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work
under the Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the Consultant shall:
(a)
Notify the subcontractor and the District within three (3) days that the
Consultant has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an
illegal alien; and
(b)
Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) days
of receiving the notice the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal
alien; except that the Consultant shall not terminate the contract with the subcontractor if during
such three days the subcontractor provides information to establish that the subcontractor has not
knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien.
6.
The Consultant shall comply with any reasonable request by the Colorado
Department of Labor and Employment (“Department”) made in the course of an investigation
that the Department is undertaking, pursuant to the law.
If the Consultant violates any provision of Section 8-17.5–102(1), C.R.S., the District may
terminate the Agreement immediately and the Consultant shall be liable to the District for actual
and consequential damages of the District resulting from such termination, and the District shall
report such violation by the Consultant to the Colorado Secretary of State, as required by law.
{00913769.DOCX v:2 }
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EXHIBIT C
FORM OF CHANGE ORDER
Change Order No:
Name of Agreement:

Date Issued:

Date of Agreement:

District(s):

Other Party/Parties:
CHANGE IN SCOPE OF SERVICES (describe):

CHANGE IN AGREEMENT PRICE:

CHANGE IN TERM OF AGREEMENT:

Original Price:
$________

Original Term:
Expires _______________, 20____

Increase of this Change Order:
$_________

New Term:
Expires _______________, 20___

Price with all Approved Change Orders:
$_________

Agreement Time with all Approved Change
Orders:

APPROVED:

APPROVED:

By:

By:

District

{00913769.DOCX v:2 }

C-1

Consultant

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-01
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
THE DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
ESTABLISHING REGULAR MEETING DATES, TIME, AND LOCATION,
ESTABLISHING DISTRICT WEBSITE AND
DESIGNATING LOCATION FOR POSTING OF 24-HOUR NOTICES
A.
Pursuant to Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., special districts are required to
designate a schedule for regular meetings, indicating the dates, time and location of said
meetings.
Pursuant to Section 32-1-903(5), C.R.S., “location” means the physical,
telephonic, electronic, or virtual place, or a combination of such means where a meeting can be
attended. “Meeting” has the same meaning as set forth in Section 24-6-402(1)(b), C.R.S., and
means any kind of gathering, convened to discuss public business, in person, by telephone,
electronically, or by other means of communication.
B.

C.
Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(I), C.R.S., special districts are required to
designate annually at the board of directors of the district’s first regular meeting of each calendar
year, the public place at which notice of the date, time and location of regular and special
meetings (“Notice of Meeting”) will be physically posted at least 24 hours prior to each meeting
(“Designated Public Place”). A special district is deemed to have given full and timely notice
of a regular or special meeting if it posts its Notice of Meeting at the Designated Public Place at
least 24 hours prior to the meeting.
D.
Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(III), C.R.S., special districts are relieved of the
requirement to post the Notice of Meeting at the Designated Public Place, and are deemed to
have given full and timely notice of a public meeting, if a special district posts the Notice of
Meeting online at a public website of the special district (“District Website”) at least 24 hours
prior to each regular and special meeting.
E.
Pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(III), C.R.S., if a special district is unable to
post a Notice of Meeting on the District Website at least 24 hours prior to the meeting due to
exigent or emergency circumstances, then it must physically post the Notice of Meeting at the
Designated Public Place at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.
F.
Pursuant to Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., all meetings of the board that are held
solely at physical locations must be held at physical locations that are within the boundaries of
the district or that are within the boundaries of any county in which the district is located, in
whole or in part, or in any county so long as the physical location does not exceed twenty (20)
miles from the district boundaries unless such provision is waived.
G.
The provisions of Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., may be waived if: (1) the
proposed change of the physical location of a meeting of the board appears on the agenda of a
meeting; and (2) a resolution is adopted by the board stating the reason for which meetings of the
board are to be held in a physical location other than under Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., and
further stating the date, time and physical location of such meeting.
{00919516.DOCX v:1 }

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District (the “District”), Jefferson County, Colorado:
1.
That the provisions of Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., be waived pursuant to the
adoption of this Resolution.
2.
That the Board of Directors (the “District Board”) has determined that
conducting meetings at a physical location pursuant to Section 32-1-903(1.5), C.R.S., would be
inconvenient and costly for the directors and consultants of the District in that they live and/or
work outside of the twenty (20) mile radius requirement.
3.
That regular meetings of the District Board for the year 2022 shall be held on
___________ at ___________, at ______________ [indicate physical location and/or virtual
location (telephonically, electronically, or by other means)].
4.
That special meetings of the District Board shall be held as often as the needs of
the District require, upon notice to each director.
5.
That, until circumstances change, and a future resolution of the District Board so
designates, the physical location and/or method or procedure for attending meetings of the
District Board virtually (including the conference number or link) shall appear on the agenda(s)
of said meetings.
6.
That the residents and taxpaying electors of the District shall be given an
opportunity to object to the meeting(s) physical or virtual location(s), and any such objections
shall be considered by the District Board in setting future meetings.
7.
That the District Board authorizes establishment of a District Website, if such
District Website does not already exist, in order to provide full and timely notice of meetings of
the District Board online pursuant to the provisions of Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(III), C.R.S.
8.
That, if the District has established a District Website, the Notice of Meeting of
the District Board shall be posted on the District Website at least 24 hours prior to each meeting
pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(III), C.R.S. and Section 32-1-903(2), C.R.S.
9.
That, if the District has not yet established a District Website or is unable to post
the Notice of Meeting on the District Website at least 24 hours prior to each meeting due to
exigent or emergency circumstances, the Notice of Meeting shall be posted within the boundaries
of the District at least 24 hours prior to each meeting, pursuant to Section 24-6-402(2)(c)(I) and
(III), C.R.S., at the following Designated Public Place:
(a)

_________________________

10.
Denise Denslow, or her designee, is hereby appointed to post the abovereferenced notices.
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[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING REGULAR MEETING
DATES, TIME, AND LOCATION, ESTABLISHING DISTRICT WEBSITE AND
DESIGNATING LOCATION FOR 24-HOUR NOTICES]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:

Secretary
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President

Generating Websites
that Drive Your Business
Project Proposal

Web Presence Proposal
Client

McGeady Becher

Delivered on

October 07, 2021
Submitted by

Adam Eberling

Overview
Dear Cheryl,
Thank you for taking time to speak with me about McGeady Becher's website needs. Based
on our experience at Archipelago Web, we are confident we can create a web presence
that meets your needs.
Archipelago Web provides design and development services that you can count on. We
have developed over 100 websites and web applications, and offer services from CMS and
web application development to iPhone apps and mobile websites.
We employ a wide range of tools and skills to develop a comprehensive strategy to meet
your needs. If you have any questions about this proposal, please don't hesitate to call or
email me at aeberling@archipelagoweb.com.
Sincerely,
Adam Eberling
President, Director of Technology, Archipelago Web

1

Executive Summary
A new multisite framework will be created for McGeady Becher to create websites that
fulfill the government requirement for Metropolitan Districts.. Each website will include the
ability to easily post document, meeting notes, and other content. All websites will share a
backend that will make it easy to make updates to several sites. At the same time, the
websites will be independent from the public's point of view, and a website can be
extracted from the multisite environment to be a standalone website.

Representative Client List
Colorado Center for Law and Policy Site (via partnership)
http://cclponline.org/
Women’s Bean Project
http://www.womensbeanproject.com/
Cumbres and Toltec (in partnership with Launch Advertising)
https://cumbrestoltec.com/
Indy Give (designed by Design Rangers)
https://indygive.com/
Westminster Legacy Foundation
https://westyfoundation.org/
Hope House
https://www.hopehousecolorado.org/
Reclamation Colorado
https://www.reclamationcolorado.com/
Sheridan Ross
https://www.sheridanross.com/
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Project Team
Archipelago Web plans to assign this project to the following team members:

Adam Eberling
303.564.2978
aeberling@archipelagoweb.com
Adam has been the lead developer of websites for over 15 years, working in several coding
platforms, including Dreamweaver, custom HTML and CSS, Expression Engine, PHP, Drupal,
and SiteGen. He also oversees all server-side set-up and configuration for development
and production environments. Websites that he has been a team member for include:
Colorado Lottery, Davis Phinney Foundation, Black Creek Group, Les Clefs d’Or USA and
many more.

Nick Arnold
720.840.7853
nick@archipelagoweb.com
Nick had over a decade of experience in the TV and Video industry, with a keen eye for
detail. He has project managed and launched dozens of websites in his time on the AW
team. Nick’s organization and execution of the website’s vision ensure that projects are high
quality and delivered on time.

Jonathan Lewis
Jonathan has been working with Generation Web since 2011 as a UX developer. He enjoys
making the connection between function and presentation and is able to communicate in
both worlds. With a background in fine arts as well as web design and development he
brings a unique sensibility to his work that is much appreciated by clients and web users
alike.
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Project Description
Project Approach
Archipelago Web believes that aligning both client and partner expectations are key to a
successful project engagement. This initial high-level proposal present concepts and a
phased approach to help accomplish your company’s long-term marketing goals. To that
end, AW’s project manager will employ various means of communication available to
provide project status updates, requests, deliverables and issue resolution to complete the
project efficiently.
Our project manager coordinates with your organization on several factors:
• Client points of contact and preferred method of communication
• Scheduling design and development team members
• Design concepting and site mapping
• Content/image development from client or content partner
• Programming and development of back-end tools and solutions
• Site hosting and migration logistics, including quality assurance and testing
• Project questions, issue resolutions, approvals and sign-offs
Normal design and development of a site are broken down into three phases: Analysis,
Design and Implementation.

Analysis
The Archipelago Web team will perform necessary discovery, research, and analysis to
determine the overall requirements of the site. Specifically, the following topics are
examined in detail:
• features and functionalities for the website
• target audiences
• design guidelines
• schedule and budget considerations

4

Design
A simple yet modern design will be created to be used as a basis for the Metropolitan
Districts websites. The design will focus on ease of use, and will work on desktop, tablet,
and mobile devices, The design will allow for changes to overall elements like logo, colors,
and content for each site.

Implementation
Archipelago Web will collect and manage relevant assets, create new graphics as needed
and integrate the design and content into Wordpress.
During the entire project, AW will provide recommendations that would be in your
organization’s best interest in terms of design, content, functionality, usability, and search
engine optimization. Once approved to launch, the team will migrate the site onto a
production hosting server.
Archipelago Web will utilize the Wordpress open source CMS platform for the new website,
which will subsequently allow McGeady Becher staff to easily manage the content and
pages on the site. Wordpress is the most heavily used CMS system in the world, and is
supported by a large development community. It provides a simple interface, while
maintaining a flexible and intuitive development platform.
The initial phase will include creating the multisite foundation. Pricing will show the
incremental cost of each additional website beyond that including setup and support.

Wordpress Features
• Ability to manage the website content from any computer
• Simple to create and edit web-based content via a tool geared for any skill level
• Ability to program additional tools and forms easily
• Compatible with all major Internet browsers and operating systems
• Easy and flexible Image Editor allows for ability to scale, resize, crop and rotate
images
• Ability to develop page content in a draft mode prior to publishing
• A Media Manager tool allows administrator to easily manage images and documents.
• CSS design styles ensures consistent presentation
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• Tools to embed videos from Youtube and/or Vimeo
• Automatic tools to provide better search engine visibility
• Ability to allow for iPad and tablet interaction with tools.
• Numerous available plugins can be customized to extend the site’s functionality
Archipelago Web will optimize the final website design and integrate it into the Wordpress
CMS. Archipelago Web will then create pages for each of the design templates.
Archipelago Web will support McGeady Becher staff with training videos and sessions for
content addition. McGeady Becher will then add pages of content to the website using the
provided tools.

ADA Compliance
All websites created on the platform will follow best practices for ADA compliance. The
sites will be tested with ADA tools to verify compliance. Note that the uploaded documents
themselves will fall outside of this testing and should be created as screenreader friendly
before uploading.

Training
An in person or online training session will be held with McGeady Becher staff to show how
the administrative tools are set up, and we will provide 7-10 videos for reference in a private
training area of the website.

Billing
Archipelago Web typically bills by project. Additional development/maintenance is billed
at the rate of $150/hour. No further charges will be billed beyond the project quote without
express consent from McGeady Becher management.

Content and Materials
The initial content and graphic support (images, logo, etc) for the new website will be
provided by McGeady Becher based on the recommendations of Archipelago Web.
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Ongoing Support
Once the website is launched, our team is available by phone or email for website updates
or technical assistance. AW can provide support on an as-needed basis or web
maintenance retainer structure. Most support needs are reviewed and completed within
two or three business days.

Project Timelines
Note: A detailed timeline with deliverables will be established in the discovery meeting.

Phase

Week

Design Iterations, Page Layouts

1-3

Website Build / Content Flow / Multisite
Setup

4-6

Testing / Training / Launch

7-8
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Budget
Website Setup Cost Table
Price
Create New Multisite Website

$675

Export Multisite Website to Standalone Site

$625

Multisite Website Hosting and Maintenance

$8/site/month

Standalone Site Cost

$825

Standalone Website Hosting

$15/site/month

Standalone Website Monthly Maintenance

$10/site/month
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Contract
This proposal is submitted by Archipelago Web to McGeady Becher.
Date: October 07, 2021
Between "us", Archipelago Web, and "you", McGeady Becher
We hereby propose to furnish material and labor in accordance with the above listed
specifications based on the pricing table in this proposal.

Acceptance of Proposal
The above-outlined costs and specifications are satisfactory and hereby accepted.
Archipelago Web is authorized to do the work as specified. Payment will be made as
outlined below.

 SIGNATURE
Adam Eberling

 District Signature

Payment Schedules and Terms
One half of total service amount is due upon acceptance of proposal and the remaining
balance will be due upon completion of project and acceptance by client. Terms are Net 15.
Pricing Valid for 60 days from date of quote. All pricing is based upon the current costs of
software and straight-time labor rates relative to a mutually agreed upon schedule. If in the
event features are added post-acceptance by both parties, prices may be adjusted to
reflect increased time requirements.

Proposal Acceptance
EACH PARTY WARRANTS THAT IT HAS READ AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS
OF THIS PROPOSAL, AND THE SIGNATORY BELOW IS AUTHORIZED TO ACCEPT THIS
PROPOSAL BY SIGNING ABOVE.

9

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-03
RESOLUTION TO ADOPT BUDGET AND APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO, PURSUANT TO
SECTION 29-1-108, C.R.S., SUMMARIZING EXPENDITURES AND REVENUES FOR
EACH FUND, ADOPTING A BUDGET AND APPROPRIATING SUMS OF MONEY
FOR THE BUDGET YEAR 2021
A.
The Board of Directors of Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) has
appointed the District Accountant to prepare and submit a proposed budget to said governing
body at the proper time.
B.
The District Accountant has submitted a proposed budget to this governing body
for its consideration.
C.
Upon due and proper notice, published or posted in accordance with the law, said
proposed budget was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public hearing
was held on December 7, 2021, and interested taxpayers were given the opportunity to file or
register any objections to said proposed budget.
D.
The budget has been prepared to comply with all terms, limitations and
exemptions, including, but not limited to, reserve transfers and expenditure exemptions, under
Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”) and other laws or obligations
which are applicable to or binding upon the District.
E.
Whatever increases may have been made in the expenditures, like increases were
added to the revenues so that the budget remains in balance, as required by law.
F.
The Board of Directors has made provision therein for revenues in an amount
equal to or greater than the total proposed expenditures as set forth in said budget.
G.
It is not only required by law, but also necessary to appropriate the revenues
provided in the budget to and for the purposes described below, thereby establishing a limitation
on expenditures for the operations of the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO:
1.
The budget, as submitted, amended, and summarized by fund, is hereby approved
and adopted as the budget of the District for the year stated above.
2.
The budget is hereby approved and adopted, shall be certified by the Secretary of
the District to all appropriate agencies and is made a part of the public records of the District.
3.
The sums set forth as the total expenditures of each fund in the budget attached
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference are hereby appropriated from the
revenues of each fund, within each fund, for the purposes stated.
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION TO ADOPT
BUDGET AND APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
By:

Secretary
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President

EXHIBIT A
Budget
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I, _________________________, hereby certify that I am the duly appointed Secretary of the
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District, and that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the
budget for the budget year 2021, duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District held on December 7, 2021.

Secretary
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-04
RESOLUTION TO ADOPT BUDGET AND APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO, PURSUANT TO
SECTION 29-1-108, C.R.S., SUMMARIZING EXPENDITURES AND REVENUES FOR
EACH FUND, ADOPTING A BUDGET AND APPROPRIATING SUMS OF MONEY
FOR THE BUDGET YEAR 2022
A.
The Board of Directors of Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) has
appointed the District Accountant to prepare and submit a proposed budget to said governing
body at the proper time.
B.
The District Accountant has submitted a proposed budget to this governing body
for its consideration.
C.
Upon due and proper notice, published or posted in accordance with the law, said
proposed budget was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public hearing
was held on December 7, 2021, and interested taxpayers were given the opportunity to file or
register any objections to said proposed budget.
D.
The budget has been prepared to comply with all terms, limitations and
exemptions, including, but not limited to, reserve transfers and expenditure exemptions, under
Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”) and other laws or obligations
which are applicable to or binding upon the District.
E.
Whatever increases may have been made in the expenditures, like increases were
added to the revenues so that the budget remains in balance, as required by law.
F.
The Board of Directors has made provision therein for revenues in an amount
equal to or greater than the total proposed expenditures as set forth in said budget.
G.
It is not only required by law, but also necessary to appropriate the revenues
provided in the budget to and for the purposes described below, thereby establishing a limitation
on expenditures for the operations of the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO:
1.
The budget, as submitted, amended, and summarized by fund, is hereby approved
and adopted as the budget of the District for the year stated above.
2.
The budget is hereby approved and adopted, shall be certified by the Secretary of
the District to all appropriate agencies and is made a part of the public records of the District.
3.
The sums set forth as the total expenditures of each fund in the budget attached
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference are hereby appropriated from the
revenues of each fund, within each fund, for the purposes stated.
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION TO ADOPT
BUDGET AND APPROPRIATE SUMS OF MONEY]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
By:

Secretary
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President

EXHIBIT A
Budget
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I, _________________________, hereby certify that I am the duly appointed Secretary of the
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District, and that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the
budget for the budget year 2022, duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of Directors of the
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District held on December 7, 2021.

Secretary
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-05
RESOLUTION TO SET MILL LEVIES
RESOLUTION OF THE DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT LEVYING
GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES, PURSUANT TO SECTION 39-1-111, C.R.S., FOR THE
YEAR 2021, TO HELP DEFRAY THE COSTS OF GOVERNMENT FOR THE 2022
BUDGET YEAR
A.
The Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”)
has adopted an annual budget in accordance with the Local Government Budget Law, on
December 7, 2021.
B.
The adopted budget is attached as Exhibit A to the Resolution of the Board of
Directors of the District to Adopt Budget and Appropriate Sums of Money, and such budget is
incorporated herein by this reference.
C.
The amount of money necessary to balance the budget for general operating
expenses from property tax revenue is identified in the budget.
D.
The amount of money necessary to balance the budget for debt service expenses
from property tax revenue is identified in the budget.
NOW, THEREFORE, PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 39-1-111(5) and 39-5-128(1),
C.R.S., BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District,
Jefferson County, Colorado, that:
1.
For the purpose of meeting all general operating expenses of the District during
the 2022 budget year, the District determined to levy mills upon each dollar of the total valuation
for assessment of all taxable property within the District, as set forth in the budget, to raise the
required revenue.
2.
That for the purpose of meeting all debt retirement expenses of the District during
the 2022 budget year, the District determined to levy mills upon each dollar of the total valuation
for assessment of all taxable property within the District, as set forth in the budget, to raise the
required revenue.
3.
That for the purpose of meeting all contractual obligation expenses of the District
during the 2022 budget year, the District determined to levy mills upon each dollar of the total
valuation for assessment of all taxable property within the District, as set forth in the budget, to
raise the required revenue.
4.
That the Secretary is hereby authorized and directed to immediately certify to the
Board of County Commissioners of Jefferson County, Colorado, the mill levies for the District as
set forth in the District’s Certification of Mill Levies, attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and
incorporated herein by reference, recalculated as needed upon receipt of the final certification of
valuation from the County Assessor in order to comply with any applicable revenue and other
budgetary limits.
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[SIGNATURE PAGE OF RESOLUTION TO SET MILL LEVIES]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
By:

Secretary
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President

EXHIBIT 1
Certification of Tax Levies
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I, _________________________, hereby certify that I am the duly appointed Secretary of the
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District, and that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of the
Certification of Mill Levies for the budget year 2022, duly adopted at a meeting of the Board of
Directors of the Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District held on December 7, 2021.

Secretary
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OPERATION FUNDING AGREEMENT
This OPERATION FUNDING AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made and entered
into this 7th day of December, 2021, with an effective date of November 18, 2021, by and
between DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation
and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and MERITAGE HOMES
OF COLORADO INC., an Arizona corporation (the “Developer”) (individually, each a
“Party” and collectively the “Parties”).
RECITALS
A.
Developer is the owner of property within a project located in Jefferson County,
Colorado, commonly known as Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “Property”).
B.
Pursuant to the authority granted to the District by its Service Plan, as approved
by the Board of County Commissioners of Jefferson County on September 28, 2021, as it may be
amended from time to time (the “Service Plan”), the District intends to construct and/or acquire
certain public improvements and provide certain services to benefit properties within its
boundaries and service area (the “District Services”).
C.

The District Services will benefit the Property.

D.
In order for the public improvements to be constructed and/or acquired it is
necessary for the District to be able to pay its ongoing operations and maintenance expenses
which enable it to provide the District Services.
E.
The District anticipates that it will not have sufficient revenues to make payment
of its operations and maintenance expenses for fiscal years of 2021 through 2023.
F.
In order to enable the District to provide District Services, Developer is willing to
advance funds to the District or to pay consultants directly for operations and maintenance
expenses pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
G.
The District and the Developer desire to set forth the rights, obligations and
procedures for the Developer to advance funds and for the District to reimburse the Developer
for the advances made hereunder.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective agreements of
the Parties contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS
1.
Acknowledgement of Anticipated Shortfalls. The District anticipates a shortfall
in revenues available for operations and maintenance expenses to be incurred for fiscal years
2021 through 2023 in an aggregate amount of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000) (the
“Shortfall Amount”).
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2.
Payment of Shortfall. The Developer shall advance funds necessary to fund, or
shall directly pay, the District’s operations and maintenance expenses on a periodic basis as
needed for the fiscal years up to the Shortfall Amount. The District shall, from time to time,
provide written notice to the Developer that an advance of all or part of the Shortfall Amount is
required. The Developer shall make an advance of funds to the District within fifteen (15) days
of receipt from the District of any such written notice that an advance of funds is required
(“Developer Advance”).
3.
Request for Additional Developer Advance. If the District requires additional
advances above the Shortfall Amount from the Developer in order to meet its operation and
maintenance expenses, the District shall request such additional funds in writing. Such request
shall be accompanied by written explanation regarding the reasons additional funds are required.
The Developer shall provide such additional funds within fifteen (15) days of receipt of notice
requesting such funds. The amount of the additional funds shall be added to and included in the
Shortfall Amount.
4.
Accounting. The Developer shall provide the District with written documentation
relative to any expenses paid directly to consultants. The District shall keep an accounting of
each advance made by the Developer, including the accrued and unpaid interest on such
advances, and shall provide unaudited financial statements reflecting this accounting to the
Developer on a quarterly basis.
5.
Repayment. The District hereby agrees that it is its intention to repay the amounts
the Developer has advanced or directly paid pursuant to this Agreement, to the extent it has
funds available from the imposition of its taxes, fees, rates, tolls, penalties and charges, and from
any other revenue legally available, after the payment of its annual debt service obligations and
annual operations and maintenance expenses, which repayment is subject to annual budget and
appropriation. Simple interest shall accrue on each Developer Advance from the date of deposit
into the District’s account or from the date of direct payment by Developer, until paid, at the rate
of eight percent (8%) per annum. It is hereby agreed and acknowledged that this Agreement
evidences an intent to reimburse the Developer hereunder, but that this Agreement shall not
constitute a debt or indebtedness of the District within the meaning of any constitutional or
statutory provision, nor shall it constitute a multiple fiscal year financial obligation, and the
making of any reimbursement hereunder shall be at all times subject to annual appropriation by
the District in its absolute discretion. By acceptance of this Agreement, Developer agrees and
consents to all of the limitations in respect of the payment of the principal and interest due
hereunder and in the District’s Service Plan.
6.
Priority of Payments. Subject to the provisions of Section 5 above, payments to
reimburse the Developer shall be made on December 2 of each year and shall be applied as
follows: first to the accrued and unpaid interest and then to the principal amount due pursuant to
this Agreement.
7.
Representations. Developer hereby represents and warrants to and for the benefit
of the District as follows:
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(a)
The Developer is an Arizona corporation in good standing under the law
of the State of Arizona.
(b)
Developer has the full power and legal authority to enter into this
Agreement. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the compliance by the
Developer with any of its terms, covenants or conditions is or shall become a default under any
other agreement or contract to which Developer is a party or by which Developer is or may be
bound. Developer has taken or performed all requisite acts or actions which may be required by
its organizational or operational documents to confirm its authority to execute, deliver and
perform each of its obligations under this Agreement.
(c)
Developer represents that it has sufficient available funds to fulfill its
obligations under this Agreement.
The foregoing representations and warranties are made as of the date hereof and shall be
deemed continually made by Developer to District for the entire term of this Agreement.
8.
Term/Repose. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date hereof
and shall expire on December 31, 2023, unless terminated earlier by the mutual agreement of the
Parties. Any obligation of Developer to advance funds will expire on March 15, 2024. Any
obligation of District to reimburse Developer shall expire on December 31, 2063. In the event
the District has not reimbursed the Developer for any Developer Advance(s) made pursuant to
this Agreement on or before December 31, 2063, any amount of principal and accrued interest
outstanding on such date shall be deemed to be forever discharged and satisfied in full.
9.
Termination of Reimbursement Obligations. Notwithstanding any provision
herein to the contrary, the District’s obligations to reimburse the Developer for any and all funds
advanced or otherwise payable to the Developer under and pursuant to this Agreement (whether
the Developer has already advanced or otherwise paid such funds or intends to make such
advances or payments in the future) shall terminate automatically and be of no further force or
effect upon the occurrence of (a) the Developer’s voluntary dissolution, liquidation, winding up,
or cessation to carry on business activities as a going concern; (b) administrative dissolution (or
other legal process not initiated by the Developer dissolving the Developer as a legal entity) that
is not remedied or cured within sixty (60) days of the effective date of such dissolution or other
process; or (c) the initiation of bankruptcy, receivership or similar process or actions with regard
to the Developer (whether voluntary or involuntary). The termination of the District’s
reimbursement obligations as set forth in this section shall be absolute and binding upon the
Developer, its successors and assigns. The Developer, by its execution of this Agreement,
waives and releases any and all claims and rights, whether existing now or in the future, against
the District relating to or arising out of the District’s reimbursement obligations under this
Agreement in the event that any of the occurrences described in this section occur.
10.
Notices. All notices, demands, requests or other communications to be sent by
one Party to the other hereunder or required by law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been validly given or served by delivery of same in person to the addressee or by courier
delivery via FedEx or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, by electronically-
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confirmed email transmission, or by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows:
To District:

Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District
c/o CliftonLarsonAllen LL
8390 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Attention: Denise Denslow
Phone: 303-265-7910
Email: denise.denslow@claconnect.com

With Copy to:

Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District
c/o McGeady Becher P.C.
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400
Denver, CO 80203-1254
Attention: Paula Williams
Phone: 303-592-4380
Email: legalnotices@specialdistrictlaw.com

To Developer:

Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc.
8800 East Raintree Drive, Suite 300
Scottsdale, AZ 85260
Attention: Timothy Clements
Phone: 480-515-8630
Email: timothy.clements@meritagehomes.com

All notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be effective upon such
personal delivery or one (1) business day after being deposited with FedEx or other nationally
recognized overnight air courier service, on the date of transmission if sent by electronicallyconfirmed email transmission, or three (3) business days after deposit in the United States mail.
By giving the other Party hereto at least ten (10) days’ written notice thereof in accordance with
the provisions hereof, each of the Parties shall have the right from time to time to change its
address.
11.
Assignment. The Developer shall not assign any of its rights or delegate any of
its duties hereunder to any person or entity. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation
of the provisions hereof shall be void and ineffectual.
12.
Parties Interested Herein. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is
intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the District and
the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any
covenants, terms, conditions, or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and
provisions in this Agreement by and on behalf of the District and the Developer shall be for the
sole and exclusive benefit of the District and the Developer.
13.
Default/Remedies. In the event of a breach or default of this Agreement by either
Party, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or in
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equity. In the event of any litigation, arbitration or other proceeding to enforce the terms,
covenants or conditions hereof, the prevailing Party in such litigation, arbitration or other
proceeding shall obtain as part of its judgment or award its reasonable attorneys’ fees.
14.
Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed and
construed under the laws of the State of Colorado. Venue for any legal action relating to this
Agreement shall be exclusive to the State District Court in and for the County of Jefferson,
Colorado.
15.
Inurement. Each of the terms, covenants and conditions hereof shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and
assigns.
16.
Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties
with respect to the matters addressed herein. All prior discussions and negotiations regarding the
subject matter hereof are merged herein.
17.
Severability. If any covenant, term, condition, or provision under this Agreement
shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of
such covenant, term, condition, or provision shall not affect any other provision contained
herein, the intention being that such provisions are severable.
18.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each
of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.
19.
Paragraph Headings. Paragraph headings are inserted for convenience of
reference only.
20.
Amendment. This Agreement may be amended from time to time by agreement
between the Parties hereto; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, or alteration of
the terms or provisions hereof shall be binding upon the District or the Developer unless the
same is in writing and duly executed by the Parties hereto.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO OPERATION FUNDING AGREEMENT]
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and
year first set forth above.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT

By:

President

Attest:

Secretary
MERITAGE HOMES OF COLORADO,
INC., an Arizona corporation
By:

_____________________________

Name: _____________________________
Title: _____________________________
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FACILITIES FUNDING AND ACQUISITION AGREEMENT
This FACILITIES FUNDING AND ACQUISITION AGREEMENT (“Agreement”)
is made and entered into this 7th day of December, 2021, with an effective date of November 18,
2021, by and between DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and MERITAGE
HOMES OF COLORADO INC., an Arizona corporation (the “Developer”) (collectively, the
“Parties”).
RECITALS
A.
Developer is the developer of a project located in Jefferson County, Colorado,
commonly known as Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “Property”).
B.

The Property is within the boundaries and service area of the District.

C.

The District was organized on November 18, 2021 (“Organization Date”).

D.
Pursuant to the authority granted to the District by its Service Plan, as approved
by the Board of County Commissioners of Jefferson County on September 28, 2021, as it may be
amended from time to time (the “Service Plan”), the District intends to provide, design,
construct and/or acquire certain public improvements, including water, sanitation (including
storm and sanitary sewer), street, safety protection, park and recreation, transportation, mosquito
control and limited fire protection and other facilities and services as generally described in the
Service Plan (together with any other public improvements to be acquired by the District, the
“Improvements”).
E.
The District has agreed to provide, construct and/or acquire certain public
improvements, including water, sanitation (including storm and sanitary sewer), street, safety
protection, park and recreation, transportation, and mosquito control and other facilities and
services as generally described in the Service Plan (together with any other public improvements
to be acquired by the District, the “Improvements”).
F.
In order for the Property to be developed, the Improvements need to be designed,
constructed and/or acquired.
G.
The District does not currently have sufficient monies available to fund the cost of
construction of the Improvements or to acquire the Improvements.
H.
Funds related to the design, testing, engineering, and construction of the
Improvements, together with the related consultant and management fees associated with the
construction of the Improvements, have been and/or will be expended by the Parties
(“Construction Related Expenses”).
I.
It is anticipated that the District will issue bonds, the proceeds of which may be
utilized in part to reimburse the Developer for Organization Expenses, Construction Related
Expenses, and acquisition of Improvements.
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J.
In order to encourage development within the District, the District and the
Developer have determined that until bonds are issued it is in the best interests of the District for
the Developer to advance funds to the District for the Construction Related Expenses or for the
District’s acquisition of the Improvements upon completion, and the Developer is willing to so
proceed.
K.
The District desires to reimburse the Developer for the Construction Related
Expenses and to acquire such Improvements completed by the Developer.
L.
The Developer has incurred expenses for the organization of the District (the
"Organization Expenses").
M.

The District desires to reimburse the Developer for the Organization Expenses.

N.
The District and the Developer desire to set forth the rights, obligations, and
procedures for the acquisition of the Improvements and for the District to reimburse the
Developer as provided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective agreements of
the Parties contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:
COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS
ARTICLE I
FUNDING OF ORGANIZATION EXPENSES
1.1
Acknowledgement of and Reimbursement for Organization Expenses. District
acknowledges that Developer has expended funds for the Organization Expenses. Developer
shall provide written documentation relative to the Organization Expenses to the District’s
accountant, such documentation to be satisfactory to the District. Upon the District’s
accountant’s verification of the documentation in determining the amount of the Organization
Expenses, such amount shall be reimbursable to the Developer. Subject to the receipt of funding
pursuant to Article IV herein, the Developer shall be reimbursed for those Organization
Expenses that have been verified and approved by the District’s accountant, as well as amounts
advanced to the District by the Developer to pay for the costs incurred by the District for such
review, verification and approval, together with interest thereon which shall accrue from the
Organization Date at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum.
ARTICLE IIFUNDING OF IMPROVEMENTS TO BE CONSTRUCTED BY THE
DISTRICT
2.1
Improvements Constructed by the District. The Parties acknowledge that the
District will design, construct, and complete certain Improvements and incur Construction
Related Expenses in accordance with the provisions of this Article II.
2.2
Acknowledgement of Anticipated Shortfall. Developer acknowledges that in
connection with the construction of the Improvements, the District will incur Construction
Related Expenses in reliance upon the Developer’s commitments herein to provide funding. The
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total estimated cost to complete construction of the Improvements, including contingencies, is
Three Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($3,500,000.00) (the “Shortfall Amount”).
2.3
Payment of Shortfall. The Developer shall advance funds necessary to fund the
Construction Related Expenses incurred by the District on a periodic basis as needed for the
fiscal years 2021 through 2023 of the District, up to the Shortfall Amount. The District shall,
from time to time, provide written notice to the Developer that an advance of all or part of the
Shortfall Amount is required. The Developer shall make an advance of funds to the District
within fifteen (15) days of receipt from the District of any such written notice that an advance of
funds is required (“Developer Advance”).
2.4
Request for Additional Developer Advance. If the District requires additional
advances above the Shortfall Amount from the Developer for the Construction Related
Expenses, the District shall request such additional funds in writing. Such request shall be
accompanied by written explanation regarding the reasons additional funds are required. The
Developer shall provide such additional funds within fifteen (15) days of receipt of notice
requesting such funds. The amount of the additional funds shall be added to and included within
the Shortfall Amount.
2.5
Accounting. The District shall keep an accounting of each Developer Advance,
including the accrued and unpaid interest thereon, and shall provide unaudited financial
statements reflecting this accounting to the Developer on a quarterly basis.
ARTICLE III
CONSTRUCTION OF IMPROVEMENTS TO BE ACQUIRED BY THE DISTRICT
3.1
Improvements Acquired by District. The Parties agree that prior to the Developer
requesting that the District acquire any Improvements pursuant to this Agreement, the District
shall obtain a certification of an independent engineer that the Construction Related Expenses are
reasonable and comparable for similar projects as constructed in the Local Community, and
verification from the District’s accountant that the Construction Related Expenses are
reimbursable based on the copies of the invoices, bills, and requests for payment provided to the
District pursuant to Section 3.5 herein. The Developer shall provide the District and/or the
independent engineer with written evidence of the date that payment was made by the Developer
for all Verified Costs. The Developer shall advance to the District funds necessary to pay the
costs incurred by the District for such review and cost verification, including legal, accounting,
management and engineering expenses.
3.2
Construction Contract Requirements. The Developer agrees that any construction
contract for all or any portion of the Improvements shall require the contractor to provide a
warranty from the date of initial acceptance of the completed Improvements and a security
mechanism to secure the warranty approved by the District or as required by the applicable
government entity to which the Improvements shall be dedicated.
3.3
Verification of Costs. The Developer agrees that prior to requesting that the
District acquire any Improvements pursuant to this Agreement, the Developer shall obtain a
certification of an independent engineer that the Construction Related Expenses are reasonable
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and comparable for similar projects as constructed in the Denver Metropolitan Area, and
verification from the District’s accountant that the Construction Related Expenses are
reimbursable (“Verified Costs”) based on the copies of the invoices, bills, and requests for
payment provided to the District pursuant to Section 3.5 herein. The Developer shall provide the
District with written evidence of the date that payment was made by the Developer for all
Verified Costs. The Developer shall advance to the District funds necessary to pay the costs
incurred by the District for such review and cost verification, including legal, accounting,
management and engineering expenses.
3.4
Periodic Reports. If the District so requests, Developer will provide periodic
reports on the status of completion of the Improvements and/or accounting of Construction
Related Expenses.
3.5
Acquisition of the Improvements. The District shall acquire the Improvements
after preliminary acceptance from the appropriate accepting jurisdiction and prior to final
acceptance upon receipt, review and approval by the District’s accountant and engineer, as
applicable, of the following:
(a)

As-built drawings for the Improvements to be conveyed by the Developer;

(b)
Lien waivers and indemnifications from each contractor verifying that all
amounts due to contractors, subcontractors, material providers, or suppliers have been
paid in full, in a form acceptable to the District;
(c)
An assignment from the Developer to the District of any warranties
associated with the Improvements, in a form acceptable to the District;
(d)
Copies of all contracts, pay requests, change orders, invoices, the final
AIA payment form (or similar form approved by the District), canceled checks, and any
other requested documentation to verify the amount requested;
(e)
An executed Bill of Sale conveying the Improvements to the District,
substantially in a form of Exhibit A attached hereto; and
(f)
Such other documentation, records and verifications as may reasonably be
required by the District.
ARTICLE IV
REIMBURSEMENT OF DEVELOPER
4.1
Reimbursement of Developer. Subject to the receipt of funding pursuant to
Section 4.3 herein and all other applicable provisions hereof, the District agrees to make payment
to the Developer for all Developer Advances and/or Verified Costs, together with interest
thereon. The Developer acknowledges the District may elect to be inactive in any one or more of
the years this Agreement is in effect, and the Developer and the District agree that, during the
period of inactivity: the District shall have no financial obligations outstanding or contracts in
effect that require performance by the District; the District shall not impose a mill levy for tax
collection; the District shall not anticipate any receipt of revenue and shall have no planned
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expenditures, except for statutory compliance, in said fiscal year(s); the District shall have no
operation or maintenance responsibility for any facilities; and the District shall file an initial
notice of inactive status pursuant to Section 32-1-104, C.R.S., and each year thereafter that the
District continues to be inactive, the District shall file a notice of inactive status pursuant to
Section 32-1-104(4), C.R.S. By acceptance of this Agreement, Developer agrees that during any
period of District inactivity, the District shall have no obligations, including no obligations to
make reimbursements, under this Agreement and shall not be required to take any other actions
hereunder.
4.2
Interest and Payment Priority. Simple interest shall accrue on Organization
Expenses and Construction Related Expenses at the rate of eight percent (8%) per annum until
paid. For Organization Expenses, simple interest shall accrue from the Organization Date. For
Construction Related Expenses, simple interest shall accrue as follows:
(g)
account.

On each Developer Advance, from the date of deposit into the District’s

(h)
On Verified Costs for amounts expended by the Developer for
Construction Related Expenses incurred prior to the Organization Date, from the
Organization Date.
(i)
On Verified Costs for amounts expended by the Developer for
Improvements constructed after the Organization Date, from the date Verified Costs were
incurred by the Developer.
The Parties agree that payments by the District to the Developer shall credit first against
accrued and unpaid interest and then to the principal amount due.
4.3
Funding Requirement. The Parties agree that no payment shall be required of the
District hereunder unless and until the District issues bonds in an amount sufficient to reimburse
the Developer for all or a portion of the Organization Expenses, Developer Advances and/or
Verified Costs. The District agrees to exercise reasonable efforts to issue bonds to reimburse the
Developer subject to the limitations herein. In addition, the District agrees to utilize any
available moneys not otherwise pledged to payment of bonds, used for operation and
maintenance expenses, or otherwise encumbered, to reimburse the Developer. It is hereby
agreed and acknowledged that this Agreement evidences an intent to reimburse the Developer
hereunder, but that this Agreement shall not constitute a debt or indebtedness of the District
within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision, nor shall it constitute a multiple
fiscal year financial obligation, and the making of any reimbursement hereunder shall be at all
times subject to annual appropriation by the District. By acceptance of this Agreement,
Developer agrees and consents to all of the limitations in respect of the payment of the principal
and interest due hereunder and in the District’s Service Plan.
ARTICLE V
GENERAL PROVISIONS
5.1
Representations. Developer hereby represents and warrants to and for the benefit
of the District as follows:
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(a)
The Developer is an Arizona corporation in good standing under the law
of the State of Colorado.
(b)
Developer has the full power and legal authority to enter into this
Agreement. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the compliance by
the Developer with any of its terms, covenants or conditions is or shall become a default
under any other agreement or contract to which Developer is a party or by which
Developer is or may be bound. Developer has taken or performed all requisite acts or
actions which may be required by its organizational or operational documents to confirm
its authority to execute, deliver and perform each of its obligations under this Agreement.
(c)
Developer represents that it has sufficient available funds to fulfill its
obligations under this Agreement.
(d)
The foregoing representations and warranties are made as of the date
hereof and shall be deemed continually made by Developer to District for the entire term
of this Agreement.
5.2
Term; Repose. Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement to the
contrary, the District shall not be obligated to make any payments to the Developer for
Organization Expenses, Construction Related Expenses and/or Verified Costs incurred by the
Developer, but not invoiced (as evidenced by the delivery of the documents described in Article
3 above) to the District within five (5) years of the date incurred. In the event the District has not
paid or reimbursed the Developer for any Organization Expenses, Construction Related
Expenses and/or Verified Costs by December 31, 2063, whether invoiced or not invoiced by
such date, any amount of principal and accrued interest outstanding on such date shall be deemed
to be forever discharged and satisfied in full.
5.3
Termination of Reimbursement Obligations. Notwithstanding any provision
herein to the contrary, the District’s obligations to reimburse the Developer for any and all funds
advanced or otherwise payable to the Developer under and pursuant to this Agreement (whether
the Developer has already advanced or otherwise paid such funds or intends to make such
advances or payments in the future) shall terminate automatically and be of no further force or
effect upon the occurrence of (a) the Developer’s voluntary dissolution, liquidation, winding up,
or cessation to carry on business activities as a going concern; (b) administrative dissolution (or
other legal process not initiated by the Developer dissolving the Developer as a legal entity) that
is not remedied or cured within sixty (60) days of the effective date of such dissolution or other
process; or (c) the initiation of bankruptcy, receivership or similar process or actions with regard
to the Developer (whether voluntary or involuntary). The termination of the District’s
reimbursement obligations as set forth in this section shall be absolute and binding upon the
Developer, its successors and assigns. The Developer, by its execution of this Agreement,
waives and releases any and all claims and rights, whether existing now or in the future, against
the District relating to or arising out of the District’s reimbursement obligations under this
Agreement in the event that any of the occurrences described in this section occur.
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5.4
Certification of Compliance with Illegal Alien Statute. By its execution hereof,
the Developer confirms and ratifies all of the certifications, statements, representations and
warranties set forth in Exhibit B attached hereto and made a part hereof by this reference.
5.5
Notices. All notices, demands, requests or other communications to be sent by
one party to the other hereunder or required by law shall be in writing and shall be deemed to
have been validly given or served by delivery of same in person to the addressee or by courier
delivery via FedEx or other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, by electronicallyconfirmed email transmission, or by depositing same in the United States mail, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows:
To District:

Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District
c/o CliftonLarsonAllen LL
8390 E. Crescent Parkway, Suite 300
Greenwood Village, CO 80111
Attention: Denise Denslow
Phone: 303-265-7910
Email: denise.denslow@claconnect.com

With a copy to:

McGeady Becher P.C.
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400
Denver, CO 80203-1254
Attention: Paula J. Williams
Phone: 303-592-4380
Email: legalnotices@specialdistrictlaw.com

To Developer:

Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc.
8800 East Raintree Drive, Suite 300
Scottsdale, AZ 85260
Attention: Timothy Clements
Phone: 480-515-8630
Email: timothy.clements@meritagehomes.com

With a copy to:

Meritage Homes Corporation
8800 East Raintree Drive, Suite 300
Scottsdale, AZ 85260
Attention: Ryan Hamilton
Phone: 480- 515-8100
Email: ryan.hamilton@meritagehomes.com

All notices, demands, requests or other communications shall be effective upon
such personal delivery, one (1) business day after being deposited with United Parcel Service or
other nationally recognized overnight air courier service, on the date of transmission if sent by
electronically-confirmed facsimile or email transmission, or three (3) business days after deposit
in the United States mail. By giving the other party hereto at least ten (10) days written notice
thereof in accordance with the provisions hereof, each of the Parties shall have the right from
time to time to change its address or contact information.
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5.6
Assignment. The Developer shall not assign any of its rights or delegate any of
its duties hereunder to any person or entity. Any purported assignment or delegation in violation
of the provisions hereof shall be void and ineffectual.
5.7
Parties Interested Herein. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is
intended or shall be construed to confer upon, or to give to, any person other than the District and
the Developer any right, remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any
covenants, terms, conditions, or provisions thereof, and all the covenants, terms, conditions, and
provisions in this Agreement by and on behalf of the District and the Developer shall be for the
sole and exclusive benefit of the District and the Developer.
5.8
Default/Remedies. In the event of a breach or default of this Agreement by either
Party, the non-defaulting Party shall be entitled to exercise all remedies available at law or in
equity. In the event of any litigation, arbitration or other proceeding to enforce the terms,
covenants or conditions hereof, the prevailing Party in such proceeding shall obtain as part of its
judgment or award its reasonable attorneys’ fees.
5.9
Governing Law and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed and
construed under the laws of the State of Colorado. Venue for any legal action relating to this
Agreement shall be exclusive to the District Court in and for the County of Jefferson, Colorado.
5.10 Inurement. Each of the terms, covenants and conditions hereof shall be binding
upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties hereto and their respective permitted successors and
assigns.
5.11 Integration. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties
with respect to the matters addressed herein. All prior discussions and negotiations regarding the
subject matter hereof are merged herein.
5.12 Severability. If any covenant, term, condition, or provision under this Agreement
shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of
such covenant, term, condition, or provision shall not affect any other provision contained
herein, the intention being that such provisions are severable.
5.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each
of which shall constitute an original and all of which shall constitute one and the same document.
5.14 Paragraph Headings. Paragraph headings are inserted for convenience of
reference only.
5.15 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended from time to time by agreement
between the Parties hereto; provided, however, that no amendment, modification, or alteration of
the terms or provisions hereof shall be binding upon the District or the Developer unless the
same is in writing and duly executed by the Parties hereto.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

{00919787.DOCX v:1 }

8

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Facilities Funding and
Acquisition Agreement as of the day and year first set forth above.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:

President

Attest:

Secretary
MERITAGE HOMES OF COLORADO, INC.,
an Arizona corporation
By:
Name:
Its:
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EXHIBIT A
Bill of Sale
KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS that ________________, a ________________
(“Grantor”), for and in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, has bargained and sold, and
by these presents does grant and convey unto ________________, a ________________, whose
address is ________________ (“District”), its successors and assigns, all of Grantor’s right, title
and interest in and to the facilities, personal property and the improvements shown on Exhibit I
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (“Improvements”), excluding
therefrom those Improvements previously conveyed to other jurisdictions for perpetual
ownership.
TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the same unto the District, its successors and assigns
forever; and Grantor, its successors and assigns, shall warrant and defend the sale of said
Improvements made unto the District, its successors and assigns, against all and every person or
persons whomsoever, and warrants that (i) the conveyance of the Improvements to the District,
its successors and assigns, is made free from any claim or demand whatsoever; and (ii) the
Improvements were constructed and installed in accordance with plans and specifications
reviewed and approved by the District and all applicable Rules and Regulations of the District.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor executes this Bill of Sale this ________________
day of ________________, 20________________.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO BILL OF SALE]
GRANTOR:
________________, a ________________
By:
Its:
STATE OF COLORADO
COUNTY OF _______________

)
)
)

ss.

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ________________ day of
________________, 20________________, by ________________, as ________________ of
________________ [and by ________________ as ________________ of ________________].
Witness my hand and official seal.
My commission expires:

Notary Public
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EXHIBIT I
[Improvements]
Project Description
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EXHIBIT B
Certification of Developer
1.
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 8-17.5–102(1), C.R.S., the Developer hereby
certifies to the District that the Developer does not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal
alien who will perform work under the Agreement and that it will participate in the E-Verify
Program or Department Program (as defined in Sections 8-17.5-101(3.3) and (3.7), C.R.S.) in order
to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees of the Developer who are newly hired to
perform work under the Agreement.
2.
Agreement; or

In accordance with Section 8-17.5-102(2)(a), C.R.S., the Developer shall not:
(a)

Knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work under the

(b)
Enter into a contract with a subcontractor that fails to certify to the Developer
that the subcontractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform work
under the Agreement.
3.
The Developer represents and warrants it has confirmed the employment eligibility of
all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the Agreement through
participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program.
4.
The Developer is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while the
Agreement is in effect.
5.
If the Developer obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work
under the Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the Developer shall:
(a)
Notify the subcontractor and the District within three (3) days that the
Developer has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an illegal
alien; and
(b)
Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) days of
receiving the notice the subcontractor does not stop employing or contracting with the illegal alien;
except that the Developer shall not terminate the contract with the subcontractor if during such three
(3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly
employed or contracted with an illegal alien.
6.
The Developer shall comply with any reasonable request by the Colorado Department
of Labor and Employment (“Department”) made in the course of an investigation that the
Department is undertaking, pursuant to the law.
7.
If the Developer violates any provision of Section 8-17.5–102(1), C.R.S., the District
may terminate the Agreement immediately and the Developer shall be liable to the District for actual
and consequential damages of the District resulting from such termination, and the District shall
report such violation by the Developer to the Colorado Secretary of State, as required by law.
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-06
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT PROVIDING POLICY REGARDING RECORDING OF
PUBLIC AND EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETINGS
A.
The Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a duly organized and
validly existing special district, quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State
of Colorado pursuant to Title 32, Colorado Revised Statutes.
B.
The District is subject to and desires to comply with Section 24-6-401, et seq.,
C.R.S. (the “Open Meetings Law”), as may be amended from time to time, which provides that
formation of public policy is public business and may not be conducted in secret.
C.
Section 32-1-1001(1)(m), C.R.S., authorizes the District’s Board of Directors (the
“Board”) to adopt, amend and enforce bylaws and rules and regulations for carrying out the
business, objects and affairs of the Board and the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District that from this day forward the District’s Policy Regarding Recording of
Public and Executive Session Meetings is as follows:
1.
The Board shall use written summary minutes as the manner and media for
recording its regular and special public meetings.
2.
To the extent required by Section 24-6-402(2)(d.5)(II)(A), C.R.S, the Board shall
electronically record executive session meetings by use of a cassette tape recorder.
3.
The Board shall retain executive session meeting records for ninety (90) days
after the date of such executive session in compliance with Section 24-6-402(2)(d.5)(II)(E),
C.R.S.
4.
The District’s custodian of records shall destroy such executive session meeting
records upon expiration of the ninety (90) day retention period.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION PROVIDING POLICY REGARDING
RECORDING OF PUBLIC AND EXECUTIVE SESSION MEETINGS]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:

Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-07
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT PROVIDING FOR THE DEFENSE
AND INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
A.
Past and present Directors, Officers and Employees of Dakota Ridge Metropolitan
District (the “District”) may be subject to claims arising from acts or omissions occurring during
the performance of their governmental duties.
B.
The District desires to encourage persons to serve on its Board of Directors,
accept employment with the District and/or serve as an officer of the District, by defending and
indemnifying such persons against liability for acts or omissions occurring during the
performance of their governmental duties.
C.
It is in the best interest of the District and its inhabitants to defend and indemnify
its Directors, Officers and Employees against liability for acts and omissions which occur within
their Scope of Employment and for which such defense and indemnification is not otherwise
provided by Colorado law.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District, Jefferson County, Colorado that:
1.
follows:

Definitions. For purposes of this resolution, the terms below shall be defined as

(a)
Director: is defined as current, including any director appointed or elected
during the current fiscal year, and former directors of the District, from the date of organization,
who are sued for acts or omissions occurring during their term as a director of the District.
(b)
Employee: is defined as current, including any employee hired during the
current fiscal year, and former employees of the District, from the date of organization, who are
sued for acts or omissions occurring during their employment with the District.
(c)
Officer: is defined as current, including any officer appointed or elected
during the current fiscal year, and former officers of the District, from the date of organization,
who are sued for acts or omissions occurring during their term as an officer of the District.
(d)
Scope of Employment: an act or omission of a Director, Officer and/or
Employee of the District is within the “scope of employment” if: (i) the act or omission
reasonably relates to the business or affairs of the District; (ii) the Director, Officer and/or
Employee acted in good faith and in a manner a reasonable person would have believed to be
and/or the best interests of the District; and (iii) the act or omission was not willful or wanton.
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2.

Tort Actions Governed by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act.

(a)
In accordance with Section 24-10-110, C.R.S., the District shall pay the
costs of defense of and settlements and judgments against a Director, Officer and Employee of
the District, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, where the action lies or could lie in tort,
including any such action brought pursuant to federal law in any court of this State. As a
prerequisite to such payment, the Director, Officer and Employee must furnish the District with
an affidavit stating that: (i) the action against him/her is not purely personal; and (ii) to his/her
reasonable belief, the act or omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the Scope
of Employment. However, the District shall not pay such judgments and shall seek
reimbursement from the Director, Officer and Employee for the reasonable costs of his/her
defense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, where it is determined by a court of competent
jurisdiction that the injuries did not arise out of an act or omission of the Director, Officer and
Employee occurring during his/her term or employment with the District and within the Scope of
Employment.
(b)
The District does not hereby waive the notice requirements of its
Directors, Officers and Employees as set forth in Section 24-10-110(2), C.R.S.
3.
Other Actions Except Criminal. The District hereby agrees to pay the costs of
defense and settlements and judgments against its Directors, Officers and Employees, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, for all other actions, including, but not limited to, actions which lie or
could lie in contract or arise under state or federal laws, and which other actions are not governed
by Section 24-10-110, C.R.S., except for criminal actions. As a prerequisite to such payment,
the Director, Officer and/or Employee must furnish the District with an affidavit stating that: (a)
the action against him/her is not purely personal; and (b) to his/her reasonable belief the act or
omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the Scope of Employment. The District
shall not pay such judgments and shall be reimbursed by the Director, Officer and/or Employee
for the reasonable costs of his/her defense, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, where it is
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that the injuries did not arise out of an act or
omission of the Director, Officer and/or Employee occurring during his/her term or employment
with the District and within the Scope of Employment.
4.
Criminal Actions. The District hereby agrees to pay the costs of defense,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, and any fines or penalties assessed, where a criminal action
is brought against its Directors, Officers and Employees for acts or omissions occurring during
their term or employment with the District and within the Scope of Employment. As a
prerequisite to such payment, the Director, Officer and/or Employee must furnish the District
with an affidavit stating that: (a) the action against him/her is not purely personal; (b) to his/her
reasonable belief the act or omission upon which the claim is based occurred within the Scope of
Employment; and (b) he/she had no reasonable cause to believe his/her conduct was unlawful.
However, the District shall not pay such fines or penalties and shall be reimbursed by the
Director, Officer and/or Employee for the reasonable costs of his/her defense, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees, where it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that:
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(a)
The injuries did not arise out of an act or omission of the Director, Officer
and/or Employee occurring during his/her term or employment with the District and within the
Scope of Employment; or
(b)
The Director, Officer and/or Employee had reasonable cause to believe
his/her conduct was unlawful.
5.
Miscellaneous Provisions. The following provisions shall apply to any of the
actions discussed in Sections 2, 3 and 4 above:
(a)
Consent to Compromise or Settlement. The District shall pay no judgment
or settlement of claims against its Director, Officer and/or Employee where the latter has
compromised or settled the claim without the District’s written consent.
(b)
Legal Representation of the Director and/or Employee. The District’s
legal counsel shall serve as counsel to the Director, Officer and/or Employee, unless it appears to
such counsel that the interests of the District and the Director, Officer and/or Employee may be
adverse. In the latter event, the Director, Officer and Employee may select separate counsel to
be approved in writing by the District. The Director, Officer and Employee shall cooperate with
the District and its legal counsel in his/her defense.
(c)
Director’s and/or Employee’s Costs. The District shall not be responsible
for costs to its Director, Officer and Employee associated with time spent in giving depositions,
testifying, or otherwise cooperating with their defense.
6.
No Waiver of Sovereign Immunity. By the adoption of this Resolution, the
District does not waive its defense of sovereign immunity as to any action.
7.
No Waiver of Insurance Coverage. The approval and adoption of this Resolution
shall not constitute a waiver of insurance coverage with respect to any liability assumed by the
District under this Resolution. The Resolution shall render the District secondarily liable in the
event the District’s insurance does cover such liability and the conditions of this Resolution are
met.
8.
Liberal Construction. The purpose of this Resolution is to protect Director,
Officer and Employee of the District against personal liability for their actions taken on behalf of
the District. Therefore, it is the intent of the District that this Resolution be liberally construed in
favor of protection of such Directors, Officers and Employees.
9.
Invalidation. Judicial invalidation of any of the provisions of this Resolution or of
any paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word herein, or the application thereof in any given
circumstance, shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this Resolution, unless such
invalidation would act to destroy the intent or essence of this Resolution.
10.
Renewal of Indemnifications. All indemnifications described in this Resolution
shall be valid during the current fiscal year, and shall be considered automatically renewed on
each January 1 thereafter, unless repealed by resolution of the Board of Directors of the District
on or before January 30 of the then current fiscal year.
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RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:

Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-08
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT DECLARING THE DISTRICT’S INTENT TO
REIMBURSE EXPENDITURES WITH THE PROCEEDS OF FUTURE TAX-EXEMPT
BONDS
A.
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) anticipates that it will incur
planning, design, acquisition, development, construction, rehabilitation, equipping and furnishing
costs (the “Costs”) with respect to public improvements which the District is authorized to
provide, pursuant to its Service Plan within the service area of the District in Jefferson County,
Colorado, including, without limitation, water, sanitary sewer, storm sewer and drainage
improvements, safety protection facilities, mosquito control, covenant enforcement and other
utilities and services, together with all necessary and appropriate appurtenances thereto (together,
the “Projects”).
B.
The District intends to issue tax-exempt bonds (the “Bonds”) in one or more
series at one time or from time to time, to finance some or all of the Costs of the Projects,
including reimbursement of the District for Costs of the Projects incurred and paid prior to the
issuance of the Bonds.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District, Jefferson County, Colorado:
1.
This Resolution is adopted pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.150-2(e)
promulgated under the Internal Revenue Code, and constitutes an “official intent” within the
meaning of such section.
2.
The District hereby declares its intent to finance the Costs by the issuance of the
Bonds in the estimated aggregate principal amount of up to $3,500,000. The District reasonably
expects that Costs incurred by the District before the issuance of the Bonds will be reimbursed
with proceeds of the Bonds.
3.
The Costs will be costs of a type that are properly chargeable to capital account
(or would be so chargeable with a proper election) under general Federal income tax principles.
4.
Other than the Bonds, it is not expected that the Costs will be financed by
obligations of the District.
5.
All acts, orders, resolutions, or parts thereof, of the District that are inconsistent or
in conflict with this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent only of such inconsistency or
conflict.
6.
The provisions of this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption
and approval.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION DECLARING THE DISTRICT’S INTENT TO
REIMBURSE EXPENDITURES WITH THE PROCEEDS OF FUTURE TAX-EXEMPT
BONDS]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT

President
Attest:

Secretary
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-09
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT DECLARING ITS INTENT TO REIMBURSE
DEVELOPER FOR ADVANCES FOR OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE AND CAPITAL
EXPENSES
A.
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a duly organized and
validly existing special district, quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State
of Colorado pursuant to Title 32, Colorado Revised Statutes.
B.
Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc. (the “Developer”) is the developer of property
located within the District (“Property”).
C.
The District intends to construct certain public improvements and provide certain
services to the Property (“District Services”).
D.
In order for the Property to be developed, it is necessary for the District to be able
to pay its ongoing operations and maintenance expenses which enable it to provide the District
Services.
E.
The District anticipates that it will not have sufficient revenues to make payment
of its operations and maintenance or capital expenses for budget year 2021 and subsequent years.
F.
In order to enable the District to provide District Services, the Developer is
willing to advance funds to the District for operations, maintenance and capital expenses.
G.
The District desires to evidence its intent to repay the Developer for the advances
made hereunder.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District, Jefferson County, Colorado:
1.
The Developer will advance funds on behalf of the District as are necessary to pay
ongoing operations and maintenance expenses, which expenses shall include, but not be limited
to, legal, management and insurance costs.
(a)
The Developer will advance funds on behalf of the District as are
necessary to pay capital expenses related to providing the District Services.
(b)
The District has determined, and does hereby determine, that it is in the
best interests of the District and its service users to reimburse the Developer for funds advanced
for operations, maintenance and capital expenses.
(c)
Following the adoption of this Resolution, the District shall proceed
diligently and in good faith to negotiate an agreement with the Developer to further evidence its
intent to make reimbursements as set forth herein.
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(d)
This Resolution evidences an intent of the District Board of Directors to
reimburse the Developer for the advanced funds, but shall not constitute a debt or indebtedness
of the District within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory provision, nor shall it
constitute a multiple-fiscal year financial obligation, and the making of any reimbursement
hereunder shall be at all times subject to annual appropriation by the District in its absolute
discretion.
(e)
Judicial invalidation of any of the provisions of this Resolution or any
paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word herein, or the application thereof in any given
circumstances, shall not affect the validity of the remainder of this Resolution, unless such
invalidation would act to destroy the intent or essence of this Resolution.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT DECLARING ITS INTENT TO
REIMBURSE DEVELOPER FOR ADVANCES FOR OPERATIONS, MAINTENANCE
AND CAPITAL EXPENSES]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED ON December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT

By:
Attest:

Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-10
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF DAKOTA RIDGE
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT REGARDING COLORADO OPEN RECORDS ACT
REQUESTS
A.
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-municipal
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado and operates pursuant to its Service
Plan approved by the Jefferson County Board of County Commissioners, Colorado, on
September 28, 2021, as it may be amended and modified from time to time (the “Service Plan”).
B.
The District maintains certain records of the District that are available for
inspection by the public under and in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado.
C.
The District anticipates that individuals may, from time to time, request the right
to inspect and/or copy public records of the District.
D.
The District is authorized under Section 24-72-203, C.R.S., to adopt rules with
respect to the inspection and copying of public records of the District.
E.
The District desires to set forth in this Resolution the rules with regard to the
inspection and copying of all public records of the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District, Jefferson County, Colorado:
1.
McGeady Becher P.C., the General Counsel for the District, is hereby designated
as the “Official Custodian” of the public records of the District, as such term is defined in
Section 24-72-202(2), C.R.S. Contact information for the Official Custodian is: Denise
Denslow, CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 8390 East Crescent Parkway, Suite 500, Greenwood Village,
Colorado, 80111-2811; Phone: 303-265-7910; Fax: 303-773-2050; and E-mail:
Denise.Denslow@claconnect.com
2.
Upon request for records transmission by a person seeking a copy of any public
record, the Official Custodian shall transmit a copy of the record by United States mail, other
delivery service, facsimile, or electronic mail.
3.
Within the period specified in Section 24-72-203(3)(a), C.R.S., as amended from
time to time, the Official Custodian shall notify the record requester that a copy of the record is
available, but will only be sent to the requester once the custodian either receives payment or
makes arrangements for receiving payment for all costs associated with records transmission and
for all other fees lawfully allowed, unless recovery of all or any portion of such costs or fees has
been waived by the custodian. Upon either receiving such payment or making arrangements to
receive such payment at a later date, the Official Custodian shall provide the record(s) to the
requester as soon as practicable, but no more than three (3) business days after receipt of, or
making arrangements to receive, such payment.
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4.
If the record(s) requested are provided to the record requestor by United States
Mail, other delivery service, or by facsimile, the Official Custodian is hereby authorized to
charge:
(a)
An amount of twenty-five cents ($0.25) per standard page, or such other
maximum charge as is permitted by law from time to time, for each page of public records
copied, to defray the actual cost of providing a copy, printout, or photograph of a public record;
and
(b)
The actual cost of providing a copy, printout, and/or photograph of a
public record in a format other than a standard page.
5.
No transmission fees may be charged to the record requester for transmitting
public records via electronic mail.
6.
After the first hour of time expended in connection with the research and retrieval
of public records, the Official Custodian is authorized to charge a fee, the maximum of which
shall not exceed the fee set forth in Section 24-72-205(6), C.R.S., as amended from time to time,
for the costs incurred to review public records requests, prepare documents for inspection,
consultation with legal counsel or other consultants regarding such requests, to supervise and
coordinate preparation, review and copying of public records, and for actual costs incurred by the
Official Custodian, the District, District management, or outside consultants and legal counsel in
responding to and complying with public record requests.
7.
All requests for copies or inspection of public records of the District shall be
submitted to the Official Custodian in writing. Such requests shall be delivered by the Official
Custodian to the District’s legal counsel for review and legal advice regarding the lawful
availability of records requested and related matters. The District may, from time to time,
designate specific records for which written requests are not required and with respect to which
review by legal counsel is not required; i.e., service plans, rules and regulations, minutes, etc.
Such designations shall occur in the minutes of the meetings of the District.
8.
All public records of the District copied and provided to interested persons shall
be copied in duplicate by the Official Custodian. The Official Custodian shall retain the original
record in the appropriate file, and shall retain the duplicate copies in a separate filing bearing the
name of the person to whom copies were provided and the date of such person’s request. Copies
of duplicate copies of public records of the District shall not be charged to the person requesting
the public records, but shall be maintained for record purposes by the Official Custodian.
9.
All inspections of public records shall take place during regular business hours at
the office of the Official Custodian. Public records requests may not preempt or take priority
over previously scheduled official District-related business activities.
10.
No person shall be entitled to remove public records of the District from the
Official Custodian’s office for inspection, copying, or any other purpose or reason. Public
records of the District shall be:
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(a)
Subject to inspection in the presence of the Official Custodian or the
Official Custodian’s designee;
(b)

Appropriately marked by the person making the request;

(c)

Copied after receipt of all required charges therefore; and

(d)
Delivered to the person requesting such records at the office of the Official
Custodian within the statutory timeframe and after all charges have been paid.
Copies of public records of the District not picked up at the time set aside by the
Official Custodian may be destroyed. In the event a person renews the request for the same
public records of the District after failing to pick up previously requested copies, they will be
charged for the costs of both records requests.
1.
Only the Official Custodian (or designee of the Official Custodian) may copy
public records of the District.
2.
On behalf of the District, the Official Custodian reserves the right to seek a
declaratory judgment, pursuant to Section 13-51-101, et seq. C.R.S., to determine if a large
public records request may be exempted from the statutorily required response time.
3.
The Official Custodian may establish such other reasonable regulations as are not
inconsistent with this Resolution or with applicable Colorado law, as established and amended
from time to time.
RESOLUTION ADOPTED AND APPROVED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-11
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
REGARDING THE RETENTION AND DISPOSAL OF PUBLIC RECORDS AND
ADOPTING A PUBLIC RECORDS RETENTION SCHEDULE
A.
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-municipal
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado.
B.
The District recognizes a need for a comprehensive records retention policy and
schedule for the District’s non-permanent records and the retention of those records that have
long-term administrative, fiscal and historical value including, but not limited to those described
in Section 24-80-101, C.R.S., as may be amended from time to time (“Records”).
C.
Under the authority granted by Part 1, Article 80, Title 24, C.R.S, the Colorado
State Archives, Division of the Department of Personnel, has created a records retention
schedule for Colorado special districts, as may be amended from time to time, for use by special
districts, which sets forth a timeline for retaining the Records (“Retention Schedule”).
D.
The District desires to set forth in this Resolution the policy with regard to the
retention of the Records of the District.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District, Jefferson County, Colorado:
1.
The District hereby adopts the Retention Schedule, as the District’s minimum
standard for the retention of the Records.
2.
The Official Custodian as defined and designated by the District’s Resolution
Regarding Colorado Open Records Act Requests, as such resolution may be amended from time
to time, shall also maintain a copy of the Retention Schedule on file for review and distribution,
as necessary.
3.
The Official Custodian is hereby authorized to retain the Records in accordance
with the Retention Schedule.
4.
No Records may be destroyed pursuant to the Retention Schedule, so long as such
Records pertain to any pending legal case, claim, action or audit involving the District or if the
District’s general counsel determines such Records should be retained for other purposes.
Further, if the Official Custodian is unsure whether any Records should be destroyed, the
Official Custodian may contact the District’s general counsel for advice, prior to destruction of
said Records.
5.

Records of the District shall be destroyed using secure methods of destruction.
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RESOLUTION ADOPTED AND APPROVED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-12
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
CALLING A REGULAR ELECTION FOR DIRECTORS
MAY 3, 2022
A.
The terms of the offices of Directors Michele Trujillo and Lisa Albers shall expire
upon the election of their successors at the regular election, to be held on May 3, 2022
(“Election”), and upon such successors taking office.
B.
In accordance with the provisions of the Special District Act (“Act”) and the
Uniform Election Code (“Code”), the Election must be conducted to elect two (2) Directors to
serve until the second regular election, to occur May 6, 2025.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Dakota Ridge
Metropolitan District (the “District”) of the County of Jefferson, Colorado:
1.
Date and Time of Election. The Election shall be held on May 3, 2022, between
the hours of 7:00 A.M. and 7:00 P.M. pursuant to and in accordance with the Act, Code, and
other applicable laws. At that time two (2) Directors shall be elected to serve until the second
regular election, to occur May 6, 2025.
2.
Precinct. The District shall consist of one (1) election precinct for the
convenience of the eligible electors of the District.
3.
Conduct of Election. The Election shall be conducted as an independent mail
ballot election in accordance with all relevant provisions of the Code. The Designated Election
Official shall have on file, no later than fifty-five (55) days prior to the Election, a plan for
conducting the independent mail ballot Election.
4.
Designated Election Official. Jessie Stamper shall be the Designated Election
Official and is hereby authorized and directed to proceed with any action necessary or
appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this Resolution and of the Act, Code or other
applicable laws. The Election shall be conducted in accordance with the Act, Code and other
applicable laws. Among other matters, the Designated Election Official shall appoint election
judges as necessary, arrange for the required notices of election (either by mail or publication)
and printing of ballots, and direct that all other appropriate actions be accomplished.
5.
Call for Nominations. The Designated Election Official shall provide Call for
Nominations as required under Section 1-13.5-501, C.R.S., as applicable.
6.
Absentee Ballot Applications. NOTICE IS FURTHER GIVEN, pursuant to
Section 1-13.5-1002, C.R.S., that applications for and return of absentee ballots may be filed
with the Designated Election Official of the District, c/o Jessie Stamper, McGeady Becher P.C.,
450 E. 17th Avenue, Suite 400, Denver, Colorado 80203, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and
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5:00 p.m., until the close of business on the Tuesday immediately preceding the Election (April
26, 2022).
7.
Self-Nomination and Acceptance Forms. Self-Nomination and Acceptance
Forms are available and can be obtained from the Designated Election Official for the Dakota
Ridge Metropolitan District at the above address.
8.
Cancellation of Election. If the only matter before the electors is the election of
Directors of the District and if, at 5:00 P.M. on March 1, 2022, the sixty-third day prior to the
regular election, there are not more candidates than offices to be filled at the Election, including
candidates timely filing affidavits of intent, the Designated Election Official shall cancel the
Election and declare the candidates elected. Notice of such cancellation shall be published and
posted in accordance with law.
9.
Severability. If any part or provision of this Resolution is adjudged to be
unenforceable or invalid, such judgment shall not affect, impair or invalidate the remaining
provisions of this Resolution, it being the Board of Director’s intention that the various
provisions hereof are severable.
10.
Repealer. All acts, orders and resolutions, or parts thereof, of the Board of
Directors which are inconsistent or in conflict with this Resolution are hereby repealed to the
extent only of such inconsistency or conflict.
11.
Effective Date. The provisions of this Resolution shall take effect as of the date
adopted and approved by the Board of Directors of the District.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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[SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION
CALLING A REGULAR ELECTION FOR DIRECTORS
MAY 3, 2022]
RESOLUTION APPROVED AND ADOPTED on December 7, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:
Secretary
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President

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-13
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT FOR INCLUSION OF REAL
PROPERTY
A.
Meritage Homes of Colorado Inc., an Arizona corporation, the 100% fee owner of
the Property (hereinafter defined) has petitioned the Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the
“District”) for the inclusion into the District’s boundaries of the real property hereinafter
described (“Property”).
B.
Public Notice has been published in accordance with law, calling for a public
hearing on the request for approval of said Petition.
C.
The statutory requirements of Section 32-1-401(1)(a), C.R.S., for submission of a
petition for inclusion to the Board of Directors of the District (“Board”), including a legal
description of the Property, a statement that assent to the inclusion of the Property was obtained
by the 100% fee owner thereof and acknowledgment in the same manner as required for
conveyances of land, were presented to and have been satisfied and approved by the Board.
D.
The District may consider the enlargement or extension of its facilities in the
exercise of discretion as a governmental function in the interest of public health, safety and
welfare.
E.

The District is capable of serving the Property with facilities of the District.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO:
1.
That the Board of Directors of the District shall and hereby does order the
inclusion of the Property described herein within the boundaries of the District.
2.
The name and address of the Petitioner and the legal description of the Property
are as follows:

3.

Petitioner:

Meritage Homes of Colorado, Inc.

Address of Petitioner:

8400 E. Crescent Pkwy #200
Greenwood Village, CO 80111

Legal Description:

Approximately 2.421 acres of land legally
described on Exhibit A attached hereto and
incorporated herein.

That approval of this inclusion is further subject to the following:

(a)
On and after the effective date of this inclusion (which shall be the date of
recording of the Court Order approving the inclusion by the Clerk and Recorder of Jefferson
{00916818.DOCX v:1 }

County, Colorado, unless otherwise specified in the Court Order), the Property shall be subject to
the rules and regulations of the District, and the payment of any and all taxes, fees, rates and
charges of the District.
Dated this 7th day of December, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT
By:
Attest:

Secretary
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President

EXHIBIT A
Legal Description

LOTS 1 THROUGH 50 AND 57 THROUGH 72
DAKOTA RIDGE SUBDIVISION ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREFORE RECORDED
AT RECEPTION NO. 2020153766
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON
STATE OF COLORADO

{00916818.DOCX v:1 }

A-1

CERTIFICATION
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 2021-1213, Resolution of the Board of Directors of Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District, Resolution for
Inclusion of Real Property.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
Date:
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By:

Secretary

DRAFT
McGEADY BECHER P.C.
December 1, 2021

NOTICE TO TITLE COMPANIES: THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION IMPOSES
FEES WHICH, UNTIL PAID, CONSTITUTE A STATUTORY AND PERPETUAL LIEN
ON AND AGAINST THE PROPERTY SERVED. CONTACT THE MANAGER OF THE
DISTRICT, SPECIAL DISTRICT MANAGEMENT SERVICES, AT (303) 987-0835 TO
VERIFY PAYMENT.
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-12-14
RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT REGARDING THE IMPOSITION
OF DISTRICT FEES
A.
Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District (the “District”) is a quasi-municipal
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado located in Jefferson County,
Colorado.
B.
The District’s boundaries are described in the legal description attached hereto as
Exhibit A, which legal description may be amended from time to time, pursuant to the inclusion
and/or exclusion of property into or from the District (the “Property”).
C.
The District, pursuant to its Service Plan and the Intergovernmental Agreement
with the City of Aurora, is authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate,
redevelop, finance and provide for the operation and maintenance of certain street improvements,
safety protection improvements, park and recreation improvements and related irrigation
systems, television relay and translator facilities, and mosquito and pest control systems (the
“District Improvements”).
D.
The Property will benefit from the District Improvements and the Districts’
operation and maintenance of the same.
E.
The District is authorized pursuant to Section 32-1-1001(1)(j)(I), C.R.S., and its
Service Plan to fix fees and charges for capital costs and operation and maintenance costs.
F.
The District has determined that, to meet the costs associated with the District
Improvements and the cost of operating and maintaining the District Improvements, it is
necessary to impose an Operations and Maintenance Fee and a Capital Working Fee on the
Property.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, JEFFERSON COUNTY, COLORADO, AS
FOLLOWS:
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1.
The Board of Directors hereby finds, determines and declares that it is in the best
interests of the District, its inhabitants and taxpayers to exercise its power by imposing the
following fees:
(a)

Operations Fee.

(i)
The Board hereby imposes an Operations and Maintenance Fee
(the “Operations Fee”) in the amount of $________ per _____ on each residential lot (each, a
“Lot”) within the District. The District reserves the right to amend this resolution in the future
to increase or decrease the amount of the Operations Fee.
(ii)
The Operations Fee shall be paid in quarterly amounts of
$________ per calendar quarter invoiced on each January 1st, April 1st, July 1st and October 1st
and due on each January 25th, April 25th, July 25th and October 25th. An invoice for the
Operations Fee payable for each calendar quarter will be mailed to each property owner
(“Owner”) thirty (30) days prior to the final due date (the “Bill Date”). If payment in full is not
received by the 30th day following the Bill Date (the “Past Due Date”), the fee is deemed past
due and otherwise outstanding. A “Reminder Notice” may be, but is not required to be, sent at
such time. Notwithstanding the above, the Owner shall have the right to pay the Operations Fee
for said calendar year in one installment on or before January 15th, in which event, the Owner
shall be entitled to a five percent (5%) discount.
(iii) Failure to make payment of any Operations Fees due hereunder
shall constitute a default in the payment of such Operations Fees. Upon default, Owner shall be
responsible for a late payment fee (“Late Payment Fee”) in the amount of $_______ per late
payment.
(iv)
If the Owner does not make payment of all past due amounts,
including the Late Payment Fee (the “Delinquent Balance”), within 60 days from the Past Due
Date, the District may deliver to the Owner a Notice of Intent to File a Lien Statement (a “Lien
Notice”). The Lien Notice shall give notice to the Owner that the District intends to perfect its
lien against the Property by recording a Lien Statement in the office of the Jefferson County
Clerk and Recorder if the Delinquent Balance is not paid in full within thirty (30) days after said
Lien Notice is served upon Owner by certified mail, return receipt requested, pursuant to Section
38-22-109(3), C.R.S.
(b)

Transfer Fee.

(i)
The Board hereby determines that in order to offset administrative
costs associated with a transfer of ownership of any dwelling unit located within the Property,
the District shall impose a Transfer Fees (the “Transfer Fee” and, collectively with the
Operations Fee, the “Fees”) in the amount of $_____ per Lot and shall be due and payable at the
time of any sale, transfer or re-sale of any single-family dwelling unit constructed on a Lot which
has a certificate of occupancy.
2.
The Fees shall not be imposed on real property actually conveyed or dedicated to
non-profit owners’ associations, governmental entities or utility providers.
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3.
The Fees shall constitute a statutory and perpetual charge and lien upon the
Property pursuant to Section 32-1-1001(1)(j), C.R.S., from the date the same becomes due and
payable until paid. The lien shall be perpetual in nature as defined by the laws of the State of
Colorado on the Property and shall run with the land and such lien may be foreclosed by the
District in the same manner as provided by the laws of Colorado for the foreclosure of
mechanics’ liens. This Resolution shall be recorded in the real property records of the Clerk and
Recorder of Jefferson County, Colorado.
4.
The District shall be entitled to institute such remedies and collection proceedings
as may be authorized under Colorado law, including, but not limited to, foreclosure of its
perpetual lien. The defaulting Owner shall pay all costs, including attorney fees, incurred by the
District in connection with the foregoing. In foreclosing such lien, the District will enforce the
lien only to the extent necessary to collect the Delinquent Balance and costs of collection
(including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney fees).
5.
Judicial invalidation of any of the provisions of the Resolution or of any
paragraph, sentence, clause, phrase or word herein, or the application thereof in any given
circumstances shall not affect the validity of the remainder of the Resolution, unless such
invalidation would act to destroy the intent or essence of this Resolution.
6.
Any inquiries pertaining to the Fees may be directed to the District’s Manager at:
Denise Denslow, CliftonLarsonAllen LLP, 8390 East Crescent Parkway, Suite 500, Greenwood
Village, Colorado 80111-2811, phone number: 303-265-7910.
7.

This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption and approval.

APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS 7th day of December, 2021.

DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and
political subdivision of the State of Colorado

By:
Attest:
By:

Secretary
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President

EXHIBIT A
Legal Description of the Property
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CONSENT
The undersigned acknowledges that McGeady Becher P.C. (“MB”), general counsel to
the Dakota Ridge Metropolitan District, in Jefferson County (“District”) has requested the
District’s consent to be listed as a client on MB’s website. The District hereby consents to MB
including the name of the District in its list of clients to be posted on the MB website.
Dated this 7th day of December, 2021.
DAKOTA RIDGE METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
By:
Its:
ATTEST:
By:
Its:
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